博士論文

- 論文題目 Rational singularities, ω -multiplier ideals and cores of ideals (有理特異点、 ω -乗数イデアルとイデアルのコア)
- 氏 名 柴田 康介

Contents

1	Intr	roduction	2
2	Preliminaries		8
	2.1	Rational singularities and Du Bois singularities	8
	2.2	Mather-Jacobian minimal log discrepancy	9
	2.3	Cores of ideals	13
3	ω -multiplier ideals and cores of ideals		16
	3.1	ω -multiplier ideals	16
	3.2	Characterization rational singularities via cores of ideals \ldots	25
4	Cores of ideals and ω -multiplier ideals of 2-dimensional local		
	ring	s with a rational singularity	29
	4.1	The arithmetic of cores of ideals and ω -multiplier ideals	29
	4.2	Subadditivity thorem for ω -multiplier ideals of a 2-dimensional	
		singularity	42
	4.3	Integrally closed ideals on surface with a rational singularity $% \left({{{\bf{n}}_{{\rm{s}}}}} \right)$.	48
5	Upper bound of the multiplicity		55
	5.1	Upper bound of the multiplicity of a Du Bois singularity	55
	5.2	Upper bound of the multiplicity of \mathfrak{m}_x -primary ideal	62

Chapter 1

Introduction

In this paper, we always assume that a ring is a domain essentially of finite type over \mathbb{C} and a variety is an irreducible reduced separated scheme of finite type over \mathbb{C} .

Rees and Sally introduced the cores of ideals in [33]. Okuma, Watanabe and Yoshida characterized 2-dimensional local ring with a rational singularity via cores of ideals in [32]. However, in higher dimensional case we have a counterexample to the characterization. We will show another characterization of local ring with a rational singularity of arbitrary dimension via cores of ideals. We, namely, will prove the following:

Theorem 1.0.1. Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be an n-dimensional Cohen-Macaulay local ring with an isolated singularity. Then A is a rational singularity if and only if $\overline{I^n} \subset \operatorname{core}(I)$ for any \mathfrak{m} -primary ideal I.

By this Theorem, we show that a Cohen-Macaulay local ring with an isolated singularity has a rational singularity if Briançon-Skoda Theorem holds for the ring. Lipman and Teissier showed that for a local ring with rational singularities, Briançon-Skoda Theorem holds in [28]. Therefore a Cohen-Macaulay local ring with an isolated singularity has a rational singularity if and only if Briançon-Skoda Theorem holds for the ring.

The multiplier ideals are fundamental tools in birational geometry. In this paper we introduce a new notion an " ω -multiplier ideal" which has similar properties and works in a slightly different way than a multiplier ideal. The

main goal of this paper is to prove the properties of ω -multiplier ideals and show some applications.

For the definition of the multiplier ideals we used the discrepancies. In order for the discrepancy to be well-defined, we need to assume that the variety is normal and \mathbb{Q} -Gorenstein. The advantage of ω -multiplier ideals is that they can be defined on any normal variety. If a variety X is normal Gorenstein, then the ω -multiplier ideal $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{a}^c)$ is equal to the usual multiplier ideal $\mathcal{J}(X, \mathfrak{a}^c)$ for any ideal \mathfrak{a} .

One of the most important theorem of the multiplier ideals is the Skoda's Theorem. We will prove that the Skoda's Theorem of ω -multiplier ideals of a local ring with a rational singularity.

Proposition 1.0.2. Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be a 2-dimensional local ring with a rational singularity, \mathfrak{a} be an m-primary ideal and J be a reduction of \mathfrak{a} . Then for $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 2}$,

$$\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A,\mathfrak{a}^n) = \mathfrak{a}\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A,\mathfrak{a}^{n-1}) = J\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A,\mathfrak{a}^{n-1}).$$

Huncke and Swanson proved the many properties of cores of ideals of 2-dimensional regular local ring and the relationships between the core of an ideal and multiplier ideal of 2-dimensional regular local ring in [13]. We generalize their results to rational singularities using ω -multiplier ideals. We will prove the followings:

Proposition 1.0.3. Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be a 2-dimensional local ring with a rational singularity, \mathfrak{a} be an integrally closed \mathfrak{m} -primary ideal. Then

- (1) core(\mathfrak{a}) = $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a}^2) = \mathfrak{a}\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a}).$
- (2) $e(\mathfrak{a}) = \ell(A/\operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{a})) 2\ell(A/\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A,\mathfrak{a})).$
- (3) $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{a})) = (\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a}))^2.$
- (4) core(\mathfrak{a}^n) = $\mathfrak{a}^{2n-1}\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A,\mathfrak{a})$.

(5)
$$\operatorname{core}^{n}(\mathfrak{a}) = \mathfrak{a}(\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A,\mathfrak{a}))^{2^{n}-1}$$
. In particular, $\operatorname{core}(\operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{a})) = \mathfrak{a}(\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A,\mathfrak{a}))^{3}$.

Demailly, Ein and Lazarsfeld proved the subadditivity theorem for multiplier ideals on non-singular varieties in [4]. This theorem gives many applications of commutative algebra and algebraic geometry. Takagi and Watanabe proved that the subadditivity theorem holds for a 2-dimensional log terminal local ring in [37]. Moreover they showed the characterization of a 2dimensional log terminal local ring via the subadditivity of multiplier ideals. Hence it makes sense to consider the subadditivity of ω -multiplier ideals. We show the characterization of 2-dimensional local ring with a rational singularity via the subadditivity of ω -multiplier ideals.

Theorem 1.0.4. Let (A, m) be a two-dimensional normal local ring. Then $X = \operatorname{Spec} A$ has a rational singularity if and only if the subadditivity theorem holds, that is, for any two ideal $\mathfrak{a}, \mathfrak{b} \subset \mathcal{O}_X$,

$$\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{ab}) \subset \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{a})\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{b}).$$

To use the subadditivity of ω -multiplier ideals, we investigate the subadditivity of cores of ideals. We show the characterization of 2-dimensional local ring with a rational singularity via the subadditivity of cores of ideals.

Corollary 1.0.5. Let (A, m) be a two-dimensional normal local ring. Then $X = \operatorname{Spec} A$ is rational singularities if and only if the subadditivity theorem hold, that is, for any two \mathfrak{m} -primary integral closed ideals $\mathfrak{a}, \mathfrak{b} \subset \mathcal{O}_X$,

 $\operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{ab}) \subset \operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{a})\operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{b}).$

Moreover in [37] Takagi and Watanabe showed that a 2-dimensional normal ring is regular if the strong subadditivity theorem for the ring holds. We will consider the problem of a version of ω -multiplier ideals. We will prove the following:

Proposition 1.0.6. Let (A, m) be a two-dimensional normal local ring essentially of finite type over \mathbb{C} . Then $X = \operatorname{Spec} A$ is regular if and only if the strong subadditivity theorem hold, that is, for any two ideal \mathfrak{a} , $\mathfrak{b} \subset \mathcal{O}_X$ and any rational number c, d > 0,

$$\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{a}^{c}\mathfrak{b}^{d})\subset\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{a}^{c})\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{b}^{d}).$$

A multiplier ideal is an integrally closed ideal. It is natural to ask that an integrally closed ideal is a multiplier ideal. In general multiplier ideals are not integrally closed ideals (see [25], [26]). Favre, Jonsson, Lipman and Watanabe gave an answer to this question when a ring is 2-dimensional regular local ring. That is, they showed that all integrally closed ideals on a regular local ring are multiplier ideals in [10] and [29]. Moreover Tucker generalized the

result to a log terminal local ring in [38]. On the other hand we generalize this theorem to rational singularities by using ω -multiplier ideals. In other words, we will prove the following:

Theorem 1.0.7. Let (A, m) be a two-dimensional local normal ring. Suppose X =SpecA is a rational singularity. Then every integrally closed ideal is an ω -multiplier ideal.

Another application of ω -multiplier ideals is an upper bound of the multiplicity of a Du Bois singularity. Huneke and Watanabe gave an upper bound on the multiplicity of a rational singularity in [15]. That is, they showed the following:

Theorem 1.0.8. ([15]) Let X be an n-dimensional variety with rational singularities. Then for a closed point $x \in X$

$$\operatorname{e}(\mathfrak{m}_x) \le \binom{\operatorname{emb}(X,x) - 1}{n - 1}.$$

In [15], Huneke and Watanabe asked the following

Question 1.0.9. Let X be an n-dimensional variety with Du Bois singularities. Is it true that for a closed point $x \in X$

$$\operatorname{e}(\mathfrak{m}_x) \le \binom{\operatorname{emb}(X,x)}{n}$$
?

We give the affirmative answer to the question under the condition that X is a normal Cohen-Macaulay variety.

Theorem 1.0.10. Let X be an n-dimensional normal Cohen-Macaulay variety with Du Bois singularities. Then for a closed point $x \in X$

$$e(\mathfrak{m}_x) \le \binom{\operatorname{emb}(X,x)}{n}.$$

In Chapter 2, we define rational singularities, the Mather-Jacobian discrepancy and cores of ideals and collect their results.

In Chapter 3, we define ω -multiplier ideals and prove their properties. Further we characterize local ring with a rational singularity of arbitrary dimension via cores of ideals. In Chapter 4, we study ω -multiplier ideals of a 2-dimensional local ring with a rationals singularity. In section 4.1, we discuss the various relationships between the a core of an ideal and a ω -multiplier ideal of a 2-dimensional local ring with a rational singularity. In section 4.2, we investigate when the subadditivity theorem of ω -multiplier ideals holds in the two-dimensional case. In section 4.3, we show that all integrally closed ideals on surface with a rational singularity are ω -multiplier ideals.

In Chapter 5, we give an upper bound of the multiplicity of a Du Bois singularity.

Acknowledgment

First of all, I wish to express my deep gratitude to my supervisor Shihoko Ishii, for many suggestions, discussions, her warm encouragement, and support during the years of my master course and my doctoral studies. We would like to thank Prof. Keiichi Watanabe for stimulating discussions.

The author was partially supported by the Program for Leading Graduate Schools, MEXT, Japan and JSPS KAKENHI Grant Number 15-J09158.

Chapter 2

Preliminaries

2.1 Rational singularities and Du Bois singularities

In this section, we define rational singularities and Du Bois singularities.

Definition 2.1.1. We say that a local ring A has rational singularities if A is normal and there exists a desingularization $Y \to \text{Spec}A$ with $H^i(Y, \mathcal{O}_Y) = 0$ for every i > 0.

The following is well known as a characterization of rational singularities in characteristic zero (see for example [21])

Proposition 2.1.2. Let A be a normal local Cohen-Macaulay ring essentially of finite type over a field of characteristic 0. The scheme X = SpecA has rational singularities if and only if there exists a desingularization $Y \to X$ with $f_*\omega_Y = \omega_X$, where ω_Y and ω_X are the canonical sheaves of Y and X, respectively.

Definition 2.1.3. Suppose that X is a reduced scheme embedded as a closed subscheme of a smooth scheme Y. Let $f: \tilde{Y} \to Y$ be a log resolution of (Y, X) that is an isomorphism outside of X. Let E denote $(f^{-1}(X))_{\text{red}}$. Then X is said to have Du Bois singularities if the natural map $\mathcal{O}_X \to \mathbf{R}f_*\mathcal{O}_E$ is a quasi-isomorphism.

First Du Bois singularities are introduced by Steenbrink with the different definition in [36], but Schwede ([35]) showed that it is equivalent to the condition in Definition 2.1.3.

Kovács, Schwede and Smith characterized normal Cohen-Macaulay Du Bois singularities.

Theorem 2.1.4. [22] Suppose that X is normal and Cohen-Macaulay. Let $\pi: Y \to X$ be any log resolution and denote the reduced exceptional divisor of π by G. Then X has Du Bois singularities if and only if $\pi_*\omega_Y(G) = \omega_X$.

Using this theorem, it is easy to see that Cohen-Macaulay log canonical singularities are Du Bois singularities and Gorenstein Du Bois singularities are log canonical singularities.

Remark 2.1.5. Kollár and Kovács showed that log canonical singularities are Du Bois singularities even if the singularities are not Cohen-Macaulay (See [20]).

2.2 Mather-Jacobian minimal log discrepancy

We start by recalling the definition and basic properties of Mather-Jacobian log discrepancy which is defined in [7], [8]. We refer to [7] for further details. Let X is a variety of dimension dim X = n. The sheaf Ω_X^n is invertible over the smooth locus X_{reg} of X, hence the projection

$$\pi: \mathcal{P}(\Omega^n_X) \to X$$

is an isomorphism over X_{reg} . The Nash blow up $\widehat{X} \to X$ is defined as the closure of $\pi^{-1}(X_{reg})$ in $P(\Omega_X^n)$.

If $V \supset X$ is an *n*-dimensional reduced, locally complete intersection scheme, then Nash blow up $\pi : \widehat{X} \to X$ is isomorphic to the blow-up of the ideal $\mathfrak{j}_V|_X$, where \mathfrak{j}_V is the Jacobian ideal of V (see Proposition 2.4 in [3]).

Definition 2.2.1. Let $f : Y \to X$ be a resolution of singularities of X that factors through the Nash blow-up of X. The image of the canonical homomorphism

$$f^*(\Omega^n_X) \to \Omega^n_Y$$

is an invertible sheaf of the form $Jac_f \Omega_Y^n$, where Jac_f is the relative Jacobian which is an invertible ideal on Y and defines an effective divisor supported on the exceptional locus of f. The divisor is called the Mather discrepancy divisor and denoted by $\hat{K}_{Y/X}$.

Remark 2.2.2. Let X be an n-dimensional normal variety and $V \supset X$ be an n-dimensional reduced, locally complete intersection scheme. If $f: Y \to X$ is a log resolution of $\mathfrak{j}_V|_X$ such that $\mathfrak{j}_V|_X\mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-J_V)$, then we have $\widehat{K}_{Y/X} = K_Y + J_V - f^*(K_V|_X)$ (see [3]).

Definition 2.2.3. Let $f : Y \to X$ is a log resolution of \mathfrak{j}_X , where \mathfrak{j}_X is the Jacobian ideal of a variety X. We denote by $J_{Y/X}$ the effective divisor on Y such that $\mathfrak{j}_X \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-J_{Y/X})$. This divisor is called the Jacobian discrepancy divisor.

Here, we note that every log resolution of j_X factors through the Nash blow-up, see for example, Remark 2.3, in [8].

Definition 2.2.4. Let X be an *n*-dimensional normal variety and V be a reduced locally complete intersection *n*-dimensional scheme containing X. The ideal $\mathfrak{d}_{X,V}$ is the ideal such that

$$\operatorname{Im}(\omega_X \to \omega_V|_X) = \mathfrak{d}_{X,V} \otimes \omega_V|_X.$$

Remark 2.2.5. Let M be a smooth variety containing X and V. Consider the ideals I_X and I_V of X and V in M. Then, as \mathcal{O}_V -modules, we have

$$\omega_X \otimes \omega_V^{-1} = \mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{O}_V}(\mathcal{O}_X, \mathcal{O}_V) = (I_V : I_X)/I_V,$$

and therefore

$$\mathfrak{d}_{X,V} = ((I_V : I_X) + I_X)/I_X$$

In other words, if we write $V = X \cup X'$, where X' is the residual part of V with respect to X (given by the ideal $(I_V : I_X)$), then $\mathfrak{d}_{X,V}$ is the ideal defining the intersection $X \cap X'$ in X.

Definition 2.2.6. Let X be a normal variety. The lci-defect ideal of X is defined to be

$$\mathfrak{d}_X = \sum_V \mathfrak{d}_{X,V},$$

where the sum is taken over all reduced, locally complete intersection schemes $V \supset X$ of the same dimension.

Remark 2.2.7. The support of the lci-defect ideal of X is locally a noncomplete intersection locus of X. In particular $\mathfrak{d}_X = \mathcal{O}_X$ if X is locally a complete intersection.

Definition 2.2.8. A normal variety X is said to be \mathbb{Q} -Gorenstein if its canonical divisor K_X is \mathbb{Q} -Cartier.

Definition 2.2.9. Let X be an *n*-dimensional normal Q-Gorenstein variety and V be a reduced locally complete intersection *n*-dimensional scheme containing X. Let r be a positive integer such that rK_X is Cartier. The ideal $\mathfrak{d}_{r,X,V}$ is the ideal such that

$$\operatorname{Im}(\mathcal{O}_X(rK_X) \to (\omega_V|_X)^{\otimes r}) = \mathfrak{d}_{r,X,V} \otimes (\omega_V|_X)^{\otimes r}.$$

Definition 2.2.10. Let X be a normal Q-Gorenstein variety. Let r be a positive integer such that rK_X is Cartier. The lci-defect ideal of level r of X is defined to be

$$\mathfrak{d}_{r,X} = \sum_{V} \mathfrak{d}_{r,X,V},$$

where the sum is taken over all reduced, locally complete intersection schemes $V \supset X$ of the same dimension.

Proposition 2.2.11. ([3]) Let X be a normal Q-Gorenstein variety. Let r be a positive integer such that rK_X is Cartier. Then $\mathfrak{d}_X^r \subset \overline{\mathfrak{d}_{r,X}}$.

Remark 2.2.12. If X is Gorenstein, then $\mathfrak{d}_X = \mathfrak{d}_{1,X}$. In general however $\overline{\mathfrak{d}_X^r} \neq \overline{\mathfrak{d}_{r,X}}$.

Definition 2.2.13. Let X be a normal Q-Gorestein variety. Let $\mathfrak{a}_1, \ldots, \mathfrak{a}_r$ be nonzero ideals on X, and $t_1, \ldots, t_r \in \mathbb{R}$. Given a log resolution $f: Y \to X$ of $\mathfrak{a}_1 \cdots \mathfrak{a}_r$, we denote by Z_1, \ldots, Z_r the effective divisors on Y such that $\mathfrak{a}_i \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-Z_i)$ for $1 \leq i \leq r$. For a prime divisor E over X such that E appears on Y, we define the log discrepancy at E as

$$a(E; X, \mathfrak{a}_1^{t_1} \cdots \mathfrak{a}_r^{t_r}) := \operatorname{ord}(K_{Y/X}) - \operatorname{ord}_E(t_1 Z_1 + \cdots + t_r Z_r) + 1.$$

Definition 2.2.14. Let $\mathfrak{a}_1, \ldots, \mathfrak{a}_r$ be nonzero ideals on X, and $t_1, \ldots, t_r \in \mathbb{R}$. Given a log resolution $f: Y \to X$ of $\mathfrak{j}_X \mathfrak{a}_1 \cdots \mathfrak{a}_r$, we denote by Z_1, \ldots, Z_r the effective divisors on Y such that $\mathfrak{a}_i \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-Z_i)$ for $1 \leq i \leq r$. For a prime divisor E over X such that E appears on Y, we define the Mather-Jacobian-log discrepancy at E as

$$a_{\mathrm{MJ}}(E; X, \mathfrak{a}_1^{t_1} \cdots \mathfrak{a}_r^{t_r}) := \mathrm{ord}_E(\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_{Y/X} - t_1 Z_1 - \cdots - t_r Z_r) + 1.$$

Remark 2.2.15. If X in normal and locally a complete intersection, then $a_{MJ}(E; X, \mathfrak{a}_1^{t_1} \cdots \mathfrak{a}_r^{t_r}) = a(E; X, \mathfrak{a}_1^{t_1} \cdots \mathfrak{a}_r^{t_r})$. Indeed, in this case the image of the canonical map $\Omega_X^n \to \omega_X$ is $\mathfrak{j}_X \omega_X$, hence $\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_{Y/X} = K_{Y/X}$. In particular, we see that $a_{MJ}(E; X, \mathfrak{a}_1^{t_1} \cdots \mathfrak{a}_r^{t_r}) = a(E; X, \mathfrak{a}_1^{t_1} \cdots \mathfrak{a}_r^{t_r})$ if X is smooth.

Note that the Mather-Jacobian log discrepancy at a prime divisor E does not depend on the choice of f. We denote $\operatorname{ord}_E \widehat{K}_{Y/X}$ by \widehat{k}_E .

Definition 2.2.16. Let X be a normal Q-Gorestein variety and $\mathfrak{a}_1, \ldots, \mathfrak{a}_r$ be nonzero ideals on X, and $t_1, \ldots, t_r \in \mathbb{R}$. Then $(X, \mathfrak{a}_1^{t_1} \cdots \mathfrak{a}_r^{t_r})$ is canonical (resp. log canonical) if for every exceptional prime divisor E over X, the inequality $a_{MJ}(E; X, \mathfrak{a}_1^{t_1} \cdots \mathfrak{a}_r^{t_r}) \geq 1$ (resp. ≥ 0) holds.

Definition 2.2.17. Let X be a variety and $\mathfrak{a}_1, \ldots, \mathfrak{a}_r$ be nonzero ideals on X, and $t_1, \ldots, t_r \in \mathbb{R}$. Then $(X, \mathfrak{a}_1^{t_1} \cdots \mathfrak{a}_r^{t_r})$ is MJ-canonical (resp. MJ-log canonical) if for every exceptional prime divisor E over X, the inequality $a_{MJ}(E; X, \mathfrak{a}_1^{t_1} \cdots \mathfrak{a}_r^{t_r}) \geq 1$ (resp. ≥ 0) holds.

Remark 2.2.18. Fix a log resolution $Y \to X$ of $\mathfrak{j}_X \mathfrak{a}_1, \ldots, \mathfrak{a}_r$. Then $(X, \mathfrak{a}_1 \cdots \mathfrak{a}_r)$ is MJ-canonical (resp. MJ-log canonical) if and only if $a_{\mathrm{MJ}}(E; X, \mathfrak{a}_1^{t_1} \cdots \mathfrak{a}_r^{t_r}) \ge 1$ (resp. ≥ 0) for all exceptional prime divisor E on Y. This is proved by using the fact that

$$\widehat{K}_{Y'/X} - J_{Y'/X} = K_{Y'/Y} + g^* (\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_{Y/X})$$

for a sequence $Y' \xrightarrow{g} Y \xrightarrow{f} X$ of such log resolution of $\mathfrak{j}_X \mathfrak{a}_1, \ldots, \mathfrak{a}_r$.

Definition 2.2.19. Let X be a normal Q-Gorenstein variety and $\mathfrak{a}_1, \ldots, \mathfrak{a}_r$ be nonzero ideals on X, and $t_1, \ldots, t_r \in \mathbb{R}$. Let $f: Y \to X$ be a log resolution of $\mathfrak{a}_1, \ldots, \mathfrak{a}_r$. Define Z_1, \ldots, Z_r by $\mathfrak{a}_i \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-Z_i)$ for $1 \le i \le r$. Then we can define the multiplier ideal as follows:

$$\mathcal{J}(X,\mathfrak{a}_1^{t_1}\cdots\mathfrak{a}_r^{t_r})=f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(\lceil K_{Y/X}-t_1Z_1-\cdots-t_rZ_r\rceil).$$

Definition 2.2.20. Let X be a normal Q-Gorestein variety. X is said to be a log terminal singularities if $\mathcal{J}(X, \mathcal{O}_X) = \mathcal{O}_X$.

Remark 2.2.21. Log terminal singularities are rational singularities.

Definition 2.2.22. Let X be a variety and $\mathfrak{a}_1, \ldots, \mathfrak{a}_r$ be nonzero ideals on X, and $t_1, \ldots, t_r \in \mathbb{R}$. Let $f: Y \to X$ be a log resolution of $\mathfrak{j}_X\mathfrak{a}_1, \ldots, \mathfrak{a}_r$. Define Z_1, \ldots, Z_r by $\mathfrak{a}_i \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-Z_i)$ for $1 \leq i \leq r$. Then we can define the Mather-Jacobian multiplier ideal (or MJ-multiplier ideal for short) as follows:

$$\mathcal{J}_{\mathrm{MJ}}(X,\mathfrak{a}_1^{t_1}\cdots\mathfrak{a}_r^{t_r}) = f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_{Y/X} - [t_1Z_1 - \cdots - t_rZ_r]).$$

Remark 2.2.23. Multiplier ideals and Mather-Jacobian multiplier ideals are independent of the choice of a log resolution.

Proposition 2.2.24. ([3], [8]) If X is MJ-canonical, then it is normal and has rational singularities.

Proposition 2.2.25. ([3]) If X is MJ-log canonical, then it has Du Bois singularities.

There are the relations between jet scheme and Mather-Jacobian minimal log discrepancy (see [3], [7], [18]). For the theory on jet schemes and arc space, see for example [9].

2.3 Cores of ideals

In this section, we define cores of ideals and collect their results.

Definition 2.3.1. Let A be a ring and I be an ideal of A. An ideal $J \subset I$ is called a reduction of I if there is a positive number r such that $JI^r = I^{r+1}$. An ideal $J \subset I$ is called a minimal reduction of I if J is minimal among the reductions of I.

Definition 2.3.2. Let A be a ring and I be an ideal of A. Let $f: Y \to X =$ SpecA be the normalized blowing up of I such that $I\mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-F)$. The integral closure of I is defined to be $f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(-F)$. We denote it by \overline{I}

Definition 2.3.3. Let X be an n-dimensional scheme. Suppose that a dualizing complex for X exists. A canonical sheaf ω_X for X is defined to be the coherent sheaf given by (-n)-th cohomology of a normalized dualizing complex for X.

Remark 2.3.4. Dualizing complexes exist for any equidimensional scheme essentially of finite type over an affine Gorenstein scheme (see [12]). If X is a normal algebraic variety, then the usual notion of the canonical sheaf provides the canonical sheaf of X. In the case X = SpecA where A is a local ring, ω_X coincides with the sheafification of the canonical module ω_A .

Let $f: Y \to X$ be a birational morphism of integral schemes. Then the trace map $\operatorname{Tr}_f: f_*\omega_Y \to \omega_X$ is injective, and it is important to observe that in this case we can consider Tr_f as an inclusion $f_*\omega_Y \subset \omega_X$.

Hyry and Villamayor proved the following lemma in [16].

Lemma 2.3.5. (Lemma 2.2 in [16]) Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be a local ring. Let $f : Y \to X$ = SpecA be a proper birational morphism such that Y has rational singularities. Then $H^0(Y, \omega_Y) \subset H^0(Z, \omega_Z)$ for any proper birational morphism $g : Z \to X$. It follows, in particular, that $H^0(Y, \omega_Y) = H^0(Z, \omega_Z)$ if Z has rational singularities.

Definition 2.3.6. Let A be a Noetherian local ring and I an ideal. The core of I, denoted core(I), is the intersection of all its reductions.

Definition 2.3.7. Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be a local ring. An ideal I of A is equimultiple if a minimal reductions of I are generated by h elements, where h = ht(I).

Example 2.3.8. Every **m**-primary ideal in a local ring is equimultiple.

By the following theorem, we are able to compute core ideals for equimultiple ideals in Cohen-Macaulay local rings whose residue field has characteristic 0.

Theorem 2.3.9. ([14], Theorem 3.7) Let A be a Cohen-Macaulay local ring. Let I be an equimultiple ideal of A with $h = ht(I) \ge 1$, let J be a minimal reduction of I, and let r be a positive number such that $JI^r = I^{r+1}$. Then

$$\operatorname{core}(I) = J^{r+1} : I^r.$$

Lemma 2.3.10. ([17], Lemma 3.1.5) Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be a local ring and let I be a proper ideal of A of height greater than one. Let $Y = \operatorname{Proj} A[I]$. Then $H^0(Y, I^{n+p}\omega_Y) :_{\omega_A} I^p = H^0(Y, I^n\omega_Y)$ for all $n \ge 0$ and all $p \ge 1$.

Lemma 2.3.11. ([17], Lemma 5.1.6) Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be a Cohen-Macaulay local ring, and I be an equimultiple ideal of height h. Then

$$H^0(Y, I^h \omega_Y) :_A \omega_A = J^{r+1} :_A I^r$$

where $Y = \operatorname{Proj} A[I]$, $H^0(Y, I^h \omega_Y)$ is considered as a submodule of ω_A via the trace map, and J is any reduction of I with $JI^r = I^{r+1}$.

Theorem 2.3.12. ([17], Corollary 5.3.1) Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be a Gorenstein local ring with rational singularities, and I be an equimultiple ideal of height h such that the Rees ring A[It] is normal and Cohen-Macaulay. Let $Y = \operatorname{Proj} A[It]$. Then the following conditions are equivalent

- (1) A[It] has rational singularities;
- (2) $H^0(Y, I^n \omega_Y) = \mathcal{J}(I^n)$ for all $n \ge 0$;
- (3) core(I) = $\mathcal{J}(I^h)$.

If this is the case, then

$$\operatorname{core}(I) = I\mathcal{J}(I^{h-1}),$$
$$\mathcal{J}(I^{h-1}) = \operatorname{core}(I) : I.$$

Chapter 3

ω -multiplier ideals and cores of ideals

3.1 ω -multiplier ideals

In this section, we define ω -multiplier ideals and prove some properties of ω -multiplier ideals.

Definition 3.1.1. Let X be a normal variety, \mathfrak{a} be a nonzero ideal of \mathcal{O}_X , $c \in \mathbb{Q}_{>0}$ and let $f: Y \to X$ be a log resolution of \mathfrak{a} with $\mathfrak{a}\mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-F)$. The ω -multiplier ideal of a pair (X, \mathfrak{a}^c) is defined to be $f_*(\omega_Y(-[cF])): \omega_X$. We will denote it by $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{a}^c)$.

Definition 3.1.2. Let X be a variety with rational singularities and $\mathfrak{a} \subsetneq \mathcal{O}_X$ be a nonzero ideal of \mathcal{O}_X . The rational threshold of a pair (X, \mathfrak{a}) is defined to be $\sup\{c > 0 | \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{a}^c) = \mathcal{O}_X\}$. We will denote it by $\operatorname{rt}(X, \mathfrak{a})$.

Theorem 3.1.3. (Theorem 6.15 in [3]) Let X be a normal variety, \mathfrak{a} be a nonzero ideal and $c \in \mathbb{Q}_{>0}$. Then we have

$$\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{a}^c) = \mathcal{J}_{\mathrm{MJ}}(X,\mathfrak{a}^c\mathfrak{d}_X^{-1}).$$

De Fernex and Decampo prove the following in the proof of Theorem 6.15 in [3].

Theorem 3.1.4. ([3]) Let X be a normal variety and \mathfrak{a} be a nonzero ideal sheaf of \mathcal{O}_X . Let V be a reduced locally complete intersection scheme containing X of the same dimension. Let $\mathfrak{d}_{V,X}$ be the ideal determined by the image of $\omega_X \to \omega_V|_X$. Let $f: Y \to X$ be a log resolution of $\mathfrak{j}_V|_X \cdot \mathfrak{d}_{V,X} \cdot \mathfrak{a}$ such that $\mathfrak{j}_V|_X \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-J_V), \ \mathfrak{d}_{X,V} \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-D_V)$ and $\mathfrak{a} \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-F)$ for some effective divisors J_V , D_V and F on Y. Then

$$\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{a}^c) = f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_V + D_V - [cF]).$$

Corollary 3.1.5. Let X be a normal variety, \mathfrak{a} be a nonzero ideal and $c \in \mathbb{Q}_{>0}$. Then we have

$$\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{a}^c) \supset \mathcal{J}_{\mathrm{MJ}}(X,\mathfrak{a}^c).$$

In particular, If X is locally a complete intersection, then

$$\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{a}^c) = \mathcal{J}_{\mathrm{MJ}}(X,\mathfrak{a}^c).$$

Theorem 3.1.6. (Theorem 7.1 in [3]) Let X be a normal variety and let $\mathfrak{d}_X \subset \mathcal{O}_X$ be the lci-defect ideal of X. Let $f : Y \to X$ be a log resolution of \mathfrak{d}_X and denote by E the reduced exceptional divisor. Then the following properties hold:

(i) The pair (X, \mathfrak{d}_X^{-1}) is MJ-canonical if and only if $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathcal{O}_X) = \mathcal{O}_X$.

(ii) The pair (X, \mathfrak{d}_X^{-1}) is MJ-log canonical if and only if $f_*\omega_Y(E) = \omega_X$.

Corollary 3.1.7. (Corollary 7.2 in [3]) Let X be a normal variety, and let $\mathfrak{d}_X \subset \mathcal{O}_X$ be the lci-defect ideal of X. Then the following properties hold:

(i) If X has rational singularities, then (X, \mathfrak{d}_X^{-1}) is MJ-canonical.

(ii) If X has Du Bois singularities, then (X, \mathfrak{d}_X^{-1}) is MJ-log canonical.

Moreover, the converse holds in both cases whenever X is Cohen-Macaulay.

This corollary implies the following corollary.

Corollary 3.1.8. Let X be a Cohen-Macaulay normal variety. Then X has rational singularities if and only if $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathcal{O}_X) = \mathcal{O}_X$.

The following proposition gives the relation of Mather Jacobian discrepancies and usual multiplier discrepancies. **Proposition 3.1.9.** (Proposition 3.4 in [3]) Let X be a Q-Gorenstein normal variety. Let r be a positive integer such that rK_X is Cartier. Let $f: Y \to X$ be a log resolution of $j_X \cdot \mathfrak{d}_X \cdot \mathfrak{d}_{r,X}$ such that $j_X \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-J_{Y/X}), \mathfrak{d}_X \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-D_{Y/X})$ and $\mathfrak{d}_{r,X} \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-D_{r,Y/X})$ for some effective divisors $J_{Y/X}$, $D_{Y/X}$ and $D_{r,Y/X}$ on Y. Then

$$\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_{Y/X} + D_{Y/X} \ge \widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_{Y/X} + D_{r,Y/X} = K_{Y/X}.$$

In particular, if X is Gorenstein, then

$$\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_{Y/X} + D_{Y/X} = K_{Y/X}.$$

The following proposition gives the relation of ω -multiplier ideals and usual multiplier ideals is an immediate consequence of the above proposition.

Proposition 3.1.10. Let X be a Q-Gorenstein normal variety, \mathfrak{a} be a nonzero ideal of \mathcal{O}_X and $c \in \mathbb{Q}_{>0}$. Then $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{a}^c) \supset \mathcal{J}(X, \mathfrak{a}^c)$. In particular, if X is Gorenstein, $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{a}^c) = \mathcal{J}(X, \mathfrak{a}^c)$.

The assertion in the next proposition are an immediate consequence of the definition.

Proposition 3.1.11. Let \mathfrak{a} and \mathfrak{b} be nonzero ideals on a normal variety X, and c > 0.

(1) If $\mathfrak{a} \subset \mathfrak{b}$, then $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{a}^c) \subset \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{b}^c)$.

(2) If $c \geq d$ are in $\mathbb{Q}_{>0}$, then $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{a}^c) \subset \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{a}^d)$.

(3) $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{a}^c) = \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \overline{\mathfrak{a}}^c)$, where $\overline{\mathfrak{a}}$ is integrally closure of \mathfrak{a} .

Proposition 3.1.12. Let \mathfrak{a} be a nonzero ideal on a normal variety X, and c > 0.

(1) The ω -multiplier ideal $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{a}^c)$ is an integrally closed ideal of \mathcal{O}_X .

(2) Suppose that X has rational singularities. Then $\mathfrak{a} \subset \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{a})$.

Proof. Let \mathfrak{j}_X be the Jacobian ideal of X and \mathfrak{d}_X be the lci-defect ideal of X. Let $f: Y \to X$ be a log resolution of $\mathfrak{j}_X \cdot \mathfrak{d}_X$ such that $\mathfrak{j}_X \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-J_{Y/X})$, $\mathfrak{d}_X \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-D_{Y/X})$ and $\mathfrak{a} \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-F)$ for some effective divisors $J_{Y/X}, D_{Y/X}$ and F on Y. Then we have $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{a}^c) = f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_{Y/X} + D_{Y/X} - [cF])$ by Theorem 3.1.3. Therefore $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{a}^c)$ is an integrally closed ideal of \mathcal{O}_X . If X has rational singularities, then $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathcal{O}_X) = \mathcal{O}_X$ by Corollary 3.1.8. Therefore $\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_{Y/X} + D_{Y/X}$ is effective. Thus $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{a}) \supset f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(-F) = \overline{\mathfrak{a}} \supset \mathfrak{a}$.

Blickle defined the multiplier module in [1].

Definition 3.1.13. Let X be a normal variety and let \mathfrak{a} be a nonzero ideal on X. Let $f: Y \to X$ be a log resolution of \mathfrak{a} such that $\mathfrak{a}\mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-F)$. Then the multiplier module is defined as

$$\mathcal{J}_{\omega}(\mathfrak{a}^c) = f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(K_Y - [cF]) \subset \omega_X$$

for c > 0.

Proposition 3.1.14. Let X be a normal variety and let \mathfrak{a} be a nonzero ideal on X. Then $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(\mathfrak{a}^c) = \mathcal{J}_{\omega}(\mathfrak{a}^c) : \omega_X$ for all c > 0.

Proof. This follows immediately from the definition of ω -multiplier ideals.

Blickle gave a formula computing the multiplier module of a monomial ideal on an arbitrary affine toric variety in [1].

Theorem 3.1.15. ([1]) Let X_{σ} be an affine toric variety and a *a* monomial ideal. Then

$$\mathcal{J}_{\omega}(X_{\sigma},\mathfrak{a}^{c}) = \langle x^{m} | m \in interior \ of \ c \operatorname{Newt}(\mathfrak{a}) \rangle \subset \omega_{X_{\sigma}}.$$

Proposition 3.1.16. Let X_{σ} be an *n*-dimensional affine toric variety and \mathfrak{m} be the maximal ideal. Then $\operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{m}) \geq 1$.

Proof. Note that $\omega_{X_{\sigma}} = \langle x^m | m \in \operatorname{int}(\sigma) \cap \mathbb{Z}^n \rangle \subset \mathcal{O}_{X_{\sigma}}$. By theorem 3.1.15, we have

$$\mathcal{J}_{\omega}(X_{\sigma},\mathfrak{m}^{c}) = \langle x^{m} | m \in interior \ of \ cNewt(\mathfrak{m}) \rangle \subset \omega_{X_{\sigma}}.$$

Therefore if c < 1, then we have $x^m \in \mathcal{J}_{\omega}(X_{\sigma}, \mathfrak{m}^c)$ for any $x^m \in \omega_{X_{\sigma}}$. This implies that $\operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{m}) \geq 1$.

In general $rt(\mathfrak{m})$ is not necessarily greater than or equal to 1.

Example 3.1.17. Let $(A = (\mathbb{C}[x, y, z]/(x^2 + y^2 z + z^3))_{(x,y,z)}, \mathfrak{m} = (x, y, z)$. Then A is a Du Val singularity of type D_4 . Let Y be the minimal resolution of X = SpecA. The dual graph of the exceptional divisor on the minimal resolution of A is as follows;



Therefore the fundamental cycle of the minimal resolution of SpecA is $Z = E_1 + 2E_2 + E_3 + E_4$, where E_1, \ldots, E_4 are exceptional divisors on the minimal resolution of SpecA. Since A is a Gorenstein rational singularity, we have $K_{Y/X} = 0$, $\mathfrak{m}\mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-Z)$. This implies that $\operatorname{lct}(\mathfrak{m}) = \frac{1}{2}$. Since A is Gorenstein, $\operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{m})$ is equal to $\operatorname{lct}(\mathfrak{m})$. Thus we have $\operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{m}) = \frac{1}{2}$.

Lemma 3.1.18. Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be an n-dimensional Cohen-Macaulay normal local ring and \mathfrak{a} be an \mathfrak{m} -primary ideal of A. Then $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a}^n) \subset \operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{a})$. In particular, if $\operatorname{Proj} A[\mathfrak{a}]$ has rational singularities, then $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a}^n) = \operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{a})$.

Proof. Let $f: Y \to X$ be the blowing-up along \mathfrak{a} and $g: Z \to X$ be a log resolution of \mathfrak{a} . By Theorem 2.3.9 and Lemma 2.3.11, we have

$$\operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{a}) = H^0(Y, \mathfrak{a}^n \omega_Y) :_A \omega_A.$$

Let $h : Z \to Y$ be a morphism with $g = f \circ h$. Then $h_*(\mathfrak{a}^n \omega_Z) \subset \mathfrak{a}^n \omega_Y$. Hence we have $H^0(Z, \mathfrak{a}^n \omega_Z) \subset H^0(Y, \mathfrak{a}^n \omega_Y)$. Therefore we have

$$\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A,\mathfrak{a}^n) = H^0(Z,\mathfrak{a}^n\omega_Z) :_A \omega_A \subset H^0(Y,\mathfrak{a}^n\omega_Y) :_A \omega_A = \operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{a}).$$

We assume that $Y = \operatorname{Proj} A[\mathfrak{a}]$ has rational singularities. Then $h_*(\mathfrak{a}^n \omega_Z) = \mathfrak{a}^n \omega_Y$ by the projection formula. Therefore we have $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a}^n) = \operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{a})$. \Box

Proposition 3.1.19. Let X be an n-dimensional normal variety. Let j_X be the Jacobian ideal of X and \mathfrak{d}_X be the lci-defect ideal of X. Let $f: Y \to X$

be a log resolution of $\mathfrak{j}_X \cdot \mathfrak{d}_X$ such that $\mathfrak{j}_X \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-J_{Y/X})$ and $\mathfrak{d}_X \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-D_{Y/X})$ for some effective divisors $J_{Y/X}$ and $D_{Y/X}$ on Y. Then for i > 1

$$R^i f_* \mathcal{O}_Y (\hat{K}_{Y/X} - J_{Y/X} + D_{Y/X}) = 0.$$

Proof. If X is locally a complete intersection, then $\mathfrak{d}_X = \mathcal{O}_X$. Therefore $D_{Y/X} = 0$. Then by Local Vanishing Theorem (see Theorem 3.5 in [8]),

$$R^i f_* \mathcal{O}_Y (K_{Y/X} - J_{Y/X} + D_{Y/X}) = 0.$$

We assume that X is not locally a complete intersection. We may assume that X is affine. Note that there is a reduction of an ideal of \mathcal{O}_X generated by *n* elements (see [2], Proposition 4.6.8). Let $I = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ be a reduction of \mathfrak{d}_X . If V is the \mathbb{C} -vector space generated by x_1, \ldots, x_n , then we have on Y an exact Koszul complex

$$0 \to \wedge^n V \otimes \mathcal{O}_Y(nD_{Y/X}) \to \cdots \to V \otimes \mathcal{O}_Y(D_{Y/X}) \to \mathcal{O}_Y \to 0.$$

Let $\mathcal{L}_n = \mathcal{O}_Y(\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_{Y/X} + D_{Y/X} - nD_{Y/X})$. By tensoring with \mathcal{L}_n we get the exact complex

$$0 \to \wedge^n V \otimes \mathcal{L}_0 \to \cdots \to V \otimes \mathcal{L}_{n-1} \to \mathcal{L}_n \to 0.$$

Therefore we have

$$0 \to \wedge^{n} V \otimes f_{*}\mathcal{L}_{0} \to \cdots \to V \otimes f_{*}\mathcal{L}_{n-1} \to f_{*}\mathcal{L}_{n}$$
$$\to \wedge^{n} V \otimes R^{1} f_{*}\mathcal{L}_{0} \to \wedge^{n-1} V \otimes R^{1} f_{*}\mathcal{L}_{1} \to \cdots \to V \otimes R^{1} f_{*}\mathcal{L}_{n-1} \to R^{1} f_{*}\mathcal{L}_{n} \to \cdots$$
$$\to \wedge^{n} V \otimes R^{i} f_{*}\mathcal{L}_{0} \to \wedge^{n-1} V \otimes R^{i} f_{*}\mathcal{L}_{1} \to \cdots \to V \otimes R^{i} f_{*}\mathcal{L}_{n-1} \to R^{i} f_{*}\mathcal{L}_{n} \to \cdots$$
By Local Vanishing Theorem (see Theorem 3.5 in [8]) for $j > 0$,

$$R^j f_* \mathcal{L}_1 = R^j f_* \mathcal{O}_Y (\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_{Y/X}) = 0$$

and

$$R^{j}f_{*}\mathcal{L}_{n} = R^{j}f_{*}\mathcal{O}_{Y}(\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_{Y/X} - (n-1)D_{Y/X}) = 0.$$

Therefore we have

$$R^{j+1}f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_{Y/X} + D_{Y/X}) = 0.$$

Lemma 3.1.20. Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be an n-dimensional local ring with rational singularities and I be a minimal reduction of \mathfrak{m} . Then $\mathfrak{m}^{n+1-\lceil \operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{m})\rceil} \subset I$.

Proof. Let X = SpecA. Let \mathfrak{j}_X be the Jacobian ideal of X and \mathfrak{d}_X be the lci-defect ideal of X. Let $f: Y \to X$ be a log resolution of $\mathfrak{j}_X \cdot \mathfrak{d}_X \cdot \mathfrak{m}$ such that $\mathfrak{j}_X \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-J_{Y/X}), \mathfrak{d}_X \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-D_{Y/X})$ and $\mathfrak{m} \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-F)$ for some effective divisors $J_{Y/X}$, $D_{Y/X}$ and F on Y. Since $[\operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{m})] - 1 < \operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{m})$, we have $\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_{Y/X} + D_{Y/X} - ([\operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{m})] - 1)F \ge 0$. Therefore

$$I \supset \operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{m}) \supset \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{m}^{n}) = f_{*}\mathcal{O}_{Y}(\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_{Y/X} + D_{Y/X} - nF)$$

$$\supset f_{*}\mathcal{O}_{Y}(\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_{Y/X} + D_{Y/X} - (\lceil \operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{m}) \rceil - 1)F - (n + 1 - \lceil \operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{m}) \rceil)F)$$

$$\supset f_{*}\mathcal{O}_{Y}(-(n + 1 - \lceil \operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{m}) \rceil)F) \supset \mathfrak{m}^{n+1-\lceil \operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{m}) \rceil}$$

Proposition 3.1.21. Let X be an n-dimensional variety with rational singularities. For a closed point $x \in X$,

- (1) $\operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{m}_x) \leq n$ (2) $\operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{m}_x) = n$ if and only if x is a nonsingular point.
- (3) If $\operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{m}_x) > n-1$, then x is a nonsingular point.

Proof. For part (1), let \mathfrak{m} be the maximal ideal of $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$. Let I be a minimal reduction of \mathfrak{m} , then $I \supset \mathfrak{m}^{n+1-\lceil \operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{m}_x) \rceil}$ by Lemma 3.1.20. Here, if $\operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{m}_x) > n$, then we obtain $I \supset \mathcal{O}_{X,x}$, a contradiction.

For part (2), suppose x is a nonsingular point. Replacing X by small neighborhood of x, we may assume that X is nonsingular. Let $f: Y \to X$ be the blowup of \mathfrak{m}_x and E the exceptional divisor. Then f is a log resolution of \mathfrak{m}_x and the equalities $K_Y - f^*K_X = (n-1)E$, $\operatorname{val}_E(\mathfrak{m}_x) = 1$ hold. Hence $\operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{m}_x) = n$. Conversely suppose $\operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{m}_x) = n$, then by Lemma 3.1.20, we have $\mathfrak{m} = I$. Therefore \mathfrak{m} is generated by n elements. This implies that x is a nonsingular point.

For part (3), suppose $\operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{m}_x) > n-1$. By the same way as above, x is a nonsingular point. \Box

Proposition 3.1.22. Let X be a variety with rational singularities and \mathfrak{a} a nonzero ideal of \mathcal{O}_X . Then $\operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{a}) > 1$ if and only if for every nonzero ideal $\mathfrak{b} \subset \mathcal{O}_X$, we have $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{b}) \supset \mathfrak{b} : \mathfrak{a}$.

Proof. First suppose that $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{b}) \supset (\mathfrak{b} : \mathfrak{a})$ for every ideal $\mathfrak{b} \subset \mathcal{O}_X$. Considering the case where $\mathfrak{a} = \mathfrak{b}$, we have $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{a}) = \mathcal{O}_X$, Hence $\mathrm{rt}(\mathfrak{a}) > 1$.

Conversely assume that $\operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{a}) > 1$. Let $f : Y \to X$ be a log resolution of $\mathfrak{j}_X \cdot \mathfrak{d}_X \cdot \mathfrak{a} \cdot \mathfrak{b}$ such that $\mathfrak{j}_X \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-J_{Y/X}), \mathfrak{d}_X \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-D_{Y/X}),$ $\mathfrak{a} \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-F_{\mathfrak{a}})$ and $\mathfrak{b} \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-F_{\mathfrak{b}})$ for some effective divisors $J_{Y/X}$, $D_{Y/X}$, $F_{\mathfrak{a}}$ and $F_{\mathfrak{b}}$ on Y. Since $\operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{a}) > 1$, we have $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{a}) = \mathcal{O}_X$. This implies that

$$\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_{Y/X} + D_{Y/X} - F_{\mathfrak{a}} \ge 0.$$

We may assume that \mathfrak{b} is an integrally closed ideal, that is $\mathfrak{b} = f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(-F_{\mathfrak{b}})$. Then $x \in \mathfrak{b} : \mathfrak{a} \Leftrightarrow x\mathfrak{a} \subset \mathfrak{b} \Leftrightarrow f^*x \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y(-F_{\mathfrak{a}}) \subset \mathcal{O}_Y(-F_{\mathfrak{b}}) \Leftrightarrow f^*x \in \mathcal{O}_Y(F_{\mathfrak{a}} - F_{\mathfrak{b}})$. Therefore we have $\operatorname{div} f^*x + F_{\mathfrak{a}} - F_{\mathfrak{b}} \geq 0$. Hence we have

$$\operatorname{div} f^* x + \widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_{Y/X} + D_{Y/X} - F_{\mathfrak{b}} \ge \widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_{Y/X} + D_{Y/X} - F_{\mathfrak{a}} \ge 0.$$

Thus $x \in \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{b})$.

Corollary 3.1.23. Let X be a variety with rational singularities. Then $\operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{m}_x) > 1$ for closed point $x \in X$ if and only if for every \mathfrak{m}_x -primary ideal $\mathfrak{a} \subset \mathcal{O}_X$, we have a strict containment $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{a}) \supseteq \mathfrak{a}$.

Proof. First suppose $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{a}) \supseteq \mathfrak{a}$ for every \mathfrak{m}_x -primary ideal $\mathfrak{a} \subset \mathcal{O}_X$. Considering the case where $\mathfrak{a} = \mathfrak{m}_x$, we have $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{m}_x) = \mathcal{O}_X$, Hence $\operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{m}_x) > 1$.

Conversely assume that $\operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{m}_x) > 1$. By Proposition 3.1.22, we have $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{a}) \supset (\mathfrak{a}:\mathfrak{m}_x)$ for every \mathfrak{m}_x -primary ideal $\mathfrak{a} \subset \mathcal{O}_X$. If $\mathfrak{m}_x^l \subset \mathfrak{a}$, then $\mathfrak{m}_x^{l-1} \subset (\mathfrak{a}:\mathfrak{m}_x)$. Therefore we have $(\mathfrak{a}:\mathfrak{m}_x) \supseteq \mathfrak{a}$. This implies that $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{a}) \supseteq \mathfrak{a}$.

De Fernex and Hacon defined in [5] the log canonical, log terminal singularities on an arbitrary normal variety. These singularities are generalizations of log canonical, log terminal singularities for Q-Gorenstein variety. Moreover they defined the \natural -pull back of an arbitrary divisor on a normal variety in [5]. In a local situation, as we can take an effective divisor $-K_X$. Let $Y \to X$ be a log resolution of $\mathcal{O}_X(K_X)$. Define the divisor $f^{\natural}(-K_X)$ on Yby $\mathcal{O}_X(K_X)\mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-f^{\natural}(-K_X))$.

We assume that mK_X is effective. Let $Y \to X$ be a log resolution of $\mathcal{O}_X(-mK_X)$. Define the divisor D_m on Y by $\mathcal{O}_X(-mK_X)\mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-D_m)$.

Under this notation we define the divisor

$$K_{m,Y/X} = K_Y - \frac{1}{m}D_m$$

with the support on the exceptional divisor. In [5] De Fernex and Hacon showed that for $m, q \ge 1$,

$$K_{m,Y/X} \le K_{qm,Y/X} \le K_Y + f^{\natural}(-K_X).$$

Proposition 3.1.24. Let $X \subset \mathbb{A}^N$ be an n-dimensional affine normal variety. Then there is a log resolution $Y \to X$ of $\mathfrak{j}_X \mathfrak{d}_X \mathcal{O}_X(K_X)$ such that

$$\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_{Y/X} + D_{Y/X} = K_Y + f^{\natural}(-K_X).$$

Proof. Let $f: Y \to X$ be a log resolution of $\mathfrak{j}_X \mathfrak{d}_X \mathcal{O}_X(K_X)$ such that $\mathfrak{j}_X \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-J_{Y/X}), \ \mathfrak{d}_X \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-D_{Y/X})$. Take a reduced complete intersection scheme $M \subset \mathbb{A}^N$ of codimension c = N - n such that M contains X as an irreducible component. Then we have a sequence

$$\wedge^n \Omega_X \xrightarrow{\eta} \omega_X \xrightarrow{u} \omega_M |_X.$$

By Proposition 9.1 of [9], $\operatorname{Im}(u \circ \eta) = \mathfrak{j}_M|_X \omega_M|_X$. Note that $\mathcal{O}_X(K_X)\mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-f^{\natural}(-K_X))$. We have a sequence

$$f^*(\wedge^n \Omega_X) \xrightarrow{\eta'} \mathcal{O}_Y(-f^{\natural}(-K_X)) \xrightarrow{u'} f^*(\omega_M|_X).$$

Since $\mathcal{O}_Y(-f^{\natural}(-K_X))$ and $f^*(\omega_M|_X)$ are invertible, we can write

$$\operatorname{Im} \eta' = I \mathcal{O}_Y(-f^{\natural}(-K_X))$$
$$\operatorname{Im} u' = J_M f^*(\omega_M|_X),$$

with the ideal $I, J_M \subset \mathcal{O}_Y$. Then we obtain $IJ_M = \mathfrak{j}_M|_X \mathcal{O}_Y$. Consider all M and define $J = \sum_M J_M$, then we have $IJ = \mathfrak{j}_X \mathcal{O}_Y$. Let $g: Z \to Y$ be a log resolution of IJ such that $I\mathcal{O}_Z = \mathcal{O}_Z(-B)$ and $h: Z \to X$ be the composition of f and g. Then $B + D_{Z/X} = J_{Z/X}$ since $\mathfrak{d}_X \mathcal{O}_Y = J$.

Since h factors through the Nash blow-up, the torsion free sheaf $h^*(\wedge^n \Omega_X)/\text{Tor}$ is invertible, it is written as $\mathcal{O}_Z(C)$ by a divisor C on Z. Then by the definition of $\widehat{K}_{Z/X}$, we have $\widehat{K}_{Z/X} = K_Z - C$. On the other hand we have $C = g^*(-f^{\natural}(-K_X)) - B = -h^{\natural}(-K_X) - B$ by Lemma 2.7 in [5]. Therefore we have

$$\widehat{K}_{Z/X} - J_{Z/X} + D_{Z/X} = K_Z - C - B = K_Z + h^{\natural}(-K_X),$$

which completes the proof of the lemma.

In [5], De Fernex and Hacon introduced a multiplier ideal for a pair (X, \mathfrak{a}^t) with normal variety X and an ideal \mathfrak{a} on X. For $m \in \mathbb{N}$, they defined m-th multiplier ideal as follows:

$$\mathcal{J}_m(X, \mathfrak{a}^t) = f_* \mathcal{O}_Y(\lceil K_{m, Y/X} - tZ \rceil),$$

where $f : Y \to X$ is log resolution of $\mathfrak{a}\mathcal{O}_X(-K_X)$ and $\mathfrak{a}\mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-Z)$. They proved that the family of ideals $\{\mathcal{J}_m(X,\mathfrak{a}^t)\}_m$ has the unique maximal element and call it the multiplier ideal of (X,\mathfrak{a}^t) and denote it by $\mathcal{J}(X,\mathfrak{a}^t)$.

Corollary 3.1.25. Let X be a normal variety and \mathfrak{a} be a nonzero ideal of \mathcal{O}_X , Then for $c \in \mathbb{Q}_{>0}$,

$$\mathcal{J}_m(X,\mathfrak{a}^c)\subset\mathcal{J}^\omega(X,\mathfrak{a}^c)$$

Proof. Since $K_{m,Y/X} \leq K_Y + f^{\natural}(-K_X)$, we have $\mathcal{J}_m(X, \mathfrak{a}^c) \subset \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{a}^c)$. \Box

Corollary 3.1.26. Let X be a normal variety and \mathfrak{a} be a nonzero ideal of \mathcal{O}_X , Then for $c \in \mathbb{Q}_{>0}$,

$$\mathcal{J}(X,\mathfrak{a}^c)\subset\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{a}^c)$$

Proof. Since $\mathcal{J}_m(X, \mathfrak{a}^c) \subset \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{a}^c)$ for any m, we have $\mathcal{J}(X, \mathfrak{a}^c) \subset \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{a}^c)$.

3.2 Characterization rational singularities via cores of ideals

In this section, we characterize rational singularities via cores of ideals.

Theorem 3.2.1. ([28] Briançon-Skoda Theorem) Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be an *n*-dimensional local ring with rational singularities and I be an ideal of A. Then we have

$$\overline{I^n} \subset I$$

where – denotes integral closure.

Lemma 3.2.2. Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be an n-dimensional Cohen-Macaulay isolated singularity local ring. Suppose that A is not a rational singularity. Then there exists an \mathfrak{m} -primary ideal I of A such that $I^n \not\subset \operatorname{core}(I)$.

Proof. Since A is not a rational singularity, we have $H^0(Y, \omega_Y) \not\supseteq \omega_A$. Let I be an **m**-primary ideal such that $f : \operatorname{Proj} A[I] \to \operatorname{Spec} A$ is a desingularization. By Theorem 2.3.9 and Lemma 2.3.11, we have

$$\operatorname{core}(I) = H^0(Y, I^n \omega_Y) :_A \omega_A.$$

By Lemma 2.3.10, we have $H^0(Y, I^n \omega_Y) :_{\omega_A} I^n = H^0(Y, \omega_Y)$. This implies that $I^n \omega_A \notin H^0(Y, I^n \omega_Y)$ since $H^0(Y, \omega_Y) \not\supseteq \omega_A$. Therefore we have $I^n \notin$ $H^0(Y, I^n \omega_Y) :_A \omega_A = \operatorname{core}(I)$.

Theorem 3.2.3. Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be an n-dimensional Cohen-Macaulay isolated singularity local ring. Then A is a rational singularity if and only if $\overline{I^n} \subset$ core(I) for any \mathfrak{m} -primary ideal I.

Proof. If A is a rational singularity, then $\overline{I^n} \subset \operatorname{core}(I)$ for any \mathfrak{m} -primary ideal I by Briançon-Skoda Theorem. For the converse proof, we assume that A is not a rational singularity. By Lemma 3.2.2, there is an \mathfrak{m} -primary ideal I of A such that $I^n \not\subset \operatorname{core}(I)$. Thus we have $\overline{I^n} \not\subset \operatorname{core}(I)$. \Box

The following corollary implies that a Cohen-Macaulay isolated singularity local ring is a rational singularity if Briançon-Skoda Theorem holds for the ring.

Corollary 3.2.4. Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be an n-dimensional Cohen-Macaulay isolated singularity local ring. A is a rational singularity if and only if $\overline{I^n} \subset I$ for any \mathfrak{m} -primary ideal I. Proof. If A is a rational singularity, then $\overline{I^n} \subset I$ for any **m**-primary ideal I by Briançon-Skoda Theorem. Hence we will show the converse implication. We assume that A is not rational singularity. By Theorem 3.2.3, there are an **m**-primary ideal I and a reduction J of I such that $\overline{I^n} \not\subset J$. Therefore we have $\overline{J^n} \not\subset J$ since $\overline{I^n} = \overline{J^n}$.

Corollary 3.2.5. Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be an n-dimensional Cohen-Macaulay isolated singularity local ring. Then A is a rational singularity if and only if $\overline{I} \subset \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(I)$ for any \mathfrak{m} -primary ideal I.

Proof. We assume that A is a rational singularity. Let $f: Y \to X = \text{Spec}A$ be a log resolution of $\mathfrak{j}_X \mathfrak{d}_X I$ such that $\mathfrak{j}_X \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-J)$, $\mathfrak{d}_X \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-D)$ and $I\mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-F)$. Then Theorem 3.1.3 and Corollary 3.1.8

$$\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J + D \ge 0, \quad \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, I) = f_* \mathcal{O}_Y(\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J + D - F).$$

Therefore we have

$$\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(I) = f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J + D - F) \supset f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(-F) = \overline{I}.$$

We assume that A is not a rational singularity. Then by Theorem 3.2.3, there exists an *m*-primary I such that $\overline{I^n} \not\subset \operatorname{core}(I)$. Since by Lemma 3.1.18,

$$\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(I^n) \subset \operatorname{core}(I),$$

we have

$$\overline{I^n} \not\subset \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(I^n)$$

Definition 3.2.6. Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be a local domain which is a homomorphic image of a Gorenstein local ring. Suppose that $\operatorname{Spec} A \setminus \mathfrak{m}$ has rational singularities, and that there exists a proper birational morphism $f: Y \to \operatorname{Spec} A$ such that Y has rational singularities. We define the number r(A) as the smallest integer r such that $\mathfrak{m}^r \omega_A \subset \Gamma(Y, \omega_Y)$.

Hyry and Villamayor gave in [16] a extension of Briançon-Skoda Theorem to normal Cohen-Macaulay local rings which have rational singularities in the punctured spectrum. **Theorem 3.2.7.** ([16], Theorem 2.6) Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be an n-dimensional normal Cohen-Macaulay local domain which is a homomorphic image of a Gorenstein local ring. Suppose that Spec $A \setminus \mathfrak{m}$ has rational singularities, and that there exists a proper birational morphism $f: Y \to \text{Spec}A$ such that Y has rational singularities. Set r = r(A). Then $\overline{I^{n+r}} \subset I$ for all ideal $I \subset A$.

Proposition 3.2.8. Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be an n-dimensional Cohen-Macaulay isolated singularity local ring. If A is a Du Bois singularity, $\overline{I^{n+1}} \subset \operatorname{core}(I)$ for all ideal $I \subset A$.

Proof. Let $f : Y \to \operatorname{Spec} A$ be a resolution of $\operatorname{Spec} A$ such that f is isomorphism over $\operatorname{Spec} A \setminus \mathfrak{m}$, $f^{-1}(\mathfrak{m})$ is simple normal crossing divisor and $\mathfrak{m}\mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-F)$ for a divisor F on Y. Let G be the reduced exceptional divisor of f. Since A is a Du Bois singularity, we have $\Gamma(Y, \omega_Y(G)) = \omega_A$ by Theorem 2.1.4. Therefore $\mathfrak{m}\omega_A = \mathfrak{m}\Gamma(Y, \omega_Y(G)) \subset \Gamma(Y, \omega_Y(G-F)) \subset \Gamma(Y, \omega_Y)$. Thus r(A) = 1. By Theorem 3.2.7, we have $\overline{I^{n+1}} \subset \operatorname{core}(I)$. \Box

This proposition does not give a characterization of a Cohen-Macaulay Du Bois singularity. We have an example of an *n*-dimensional Cohen-Macaulay local ring A with non-Du Bois isolated singularity such that $\overline{I^{n+1}} \subset \operatorname{core}(I)$ for all ideal $I \subset A$.

Example 3.2.9. Let $A = (\mathbb{C}[x, y, z]/(x^3+y^3+z^4))_{(x,y,z)}$. Note Gorenstein Du Bois singularities are log canonical singularities. Then SpecA is Gorenstein, but not log canonical. Therefore A is not a Du Bois singularity. Let $f: Y \to$ SpecA be the blowing-up at \mathfrak{m} . Then f is a resolution of SpecA. Therefore we have r(A) = 1. By Theorem 3.2.7, $\overline{I^3} \subset \operatorname{core}(I)$ for any ideal I.

Chapter 4

Cores of ideals and ω -multiplier ideals of 2-dimensional local rings with a rational singularity

4.1 The arithmetic of cores of ideals and ω multiplier ideals

In this section, we discuss the various relationships between the a core of an ideal and a ω -multiplier ideal of a 2-dimensional local ring with a rational singularity.

Definition 4.1.1. Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be a two-dimensional rational singularity and fix a resolution of singularities $f : Y \to \text{Spec}A$. For any integral divisor D on Y, f-anti-nef closure of D is defined to be a unique smallest integral f-anti-nef divisor which is bigger than or equal to D. We will denote it by $\operatorname{an}_f(D)$.

The followings are quite useful.

Theorem 4.1.2. ([27], [11]) Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be a two-dimensional local ring with a rational singularity and fix a resolution of singularities $f : X \to \text{Spec}A$. Then there is a one-to-one correspondence between the set of integrally closed ideals I in A such that $I\mathcal{O}_X$ is invertible and the set of effective f-antinef cycles Z on X. The correspondence is given by $I\mathcal{O}_X = \mathcal{O}_X(-Z)$ and $I = H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X(-Z)).$

Lemma 4.1.3. ([29]) Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be a two-dimensional local ring with a rational singularity and fix a resolution of singularities $f : Y \to \operatorname{Spec} A$. For any divisor D on Y, we have $f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(-D) = f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(-\operatorname{an}_f(D))$.

Proposition 4.1.4. ([28]) Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be a two-dimensional local ring with a rational singularity, \mathfrak{a} be an integrally closed ideal of A and I be a reduction of \mathfrak{a} . Then $I\mathfrak{a} = \mathfrak{a}^2$.

The following is a generalization of Lemma 5.6 in [31].

Lemma 4.1.5. Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be a 2-dimensional normal local ring, I be an m-primary ideal and J be a minimal reduction of I with $JI = I^2$. Then for $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$,

$$J^{n+1}: I = J^n(J:I) = I^n(J:I).$$

Proof. We will show that $J^{n+1} : I = J^n(J : I) = I^n(J : I)$ by induction on n. When n = 0, the assertion is trivial. If n = 1, then the equalities hold by Lemma 5.6 in [31]. Thus we may assume that $n \ge 2$. It is clear that $J^n(J : I) \subset I^n(J : I)$. Let $x \in I^n$, $y \in (J : I)$. Then $xyI \subset yI^{n+1} =$ $yIJ^n \subset J^{n+1}$. Therefore we have $I^n(J : I) \subset J^{n+1} : I$. Hence we will show the inclusion $J^{n+1} : I \subset J^n(J : I)$. Let $J = (x_1, x_2)$. Assume that $x \in J^{n+1} : I$. Since $J^{n+1} : I \subset J^{n+1} : J \subset J^n$, there exist $a_{i_1,i_2} \in A$ such that $x = \sum_{i_1+i_2=n} a_{i_1,i_2} x_1^{i_1} x_2^{i_2}$. Since $x \in J^{n+1} : I$, for any $f \in I$ there exist $b_{i_1,i_2} \in A$ such that $xf = \sum_{j_1+j_2=n+1} b_{j_1,j_2} x_1^{j_1} x_2^{j_2}$. Then we have $a_{n,0} x_1^n f - b_{n+1,0} x_1^{n+1} \in (x_2), a_{0,n} x_2^n f - b_{0,n+1} x_2^{n+1} \in (x_1)$. Since x_1, x_2 is a regular sequence, we have $a_{n,0}f - b_{n+1,0}x_1 \in (x_2), a_{0,n}f - b_{0,n+1}x_2 \in (x_1)$. Thus $a_{n,0}f, a_{0,n}f \in J$. This shows that $a_{n,0}, a_{0,n} \in J : I$. We can write

$$x - a_{n,0}x_1^n - a_{0,n}x_2^n = x_1x_2\sum_{i_1 + i_2 = n, i_1, i_2 \neq 0, n} a_{i_1,i_2}x_1^{i_1-1}x_2^{i_2-1}.$$

Let $y = \sum_{i_1+i_2=n, i_1, i_2 \neq 0, n} a_{i_1, i_2} x_1^{i_1-1} x_2^{i_2-1}$. Since $x \in J^{n+1} : I$ and $a_{n,0} x_1^n, a_{0,n} x_2^n \in J^n(J:I) \subset J^{n+1} : I$, we have $x_1 x_2 y \in J^{n+1} : I$. For any $f \in I$, we have

 $x_1 x_2 y f \in J^{n+1}.$

Hence we have

$$yf \in J^{n-1}$$
.

Therefore we have

$$y \in J^{n-1}: I.$$

By induction hypothesis, we have $y \in J^{n-2}(J : I)$. Thus we have $x = a_{n.0}x_1^n + a_{0,n}x_2^n + x_1x_2y \in J^n(J : I)$.

Proposition 4.1.6. Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be a 2-dimensional normal local ring, I be an *m*-primary ideal and J be a minimal reduction of I with $JI = I^2$. Then for $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$,

$$J^{n-1}core(I) = I^{n-1}core(I) = J^{n+1} : I = J^n(J:I) = I^n(J:I).$$

Proof. By Theorem 2.3.9 and Lemma 4.1.5, we have

$$core(I) = J^2 : I = J(J : I) = I(J : I).$$

Thus by Lemma 4.1.5, we have

$$J^{n-1}$$
core $(I) = I^{n-1}$ core $(I) = J^{n+1} : I = J^n(J : I) = I^n(J : I).$

We need the following theorem to prove the properties of ω -multiplier ideals of 2-dimensional local ring with a rational singularity.

Theorem 4.1.7. ([32]) Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be a 2-dimensional local ring with a rational singularity, \mathfrak{a} be an integrally closed \mathfrak{m} -primary ideal and I be a minimal reduction of \mathfrak{a} . Let $f: Y \to X = \operatorname{Spec} A$ be a log resolution of \mathfrak{a} such that $\mathfrak{a} \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-F)$ and $f: Y_0 \to X$ be the minimal resolution of singularities. Then

$$I : \mathfrak{a} = H^{0}(Y, \mathcal{O}_{Y}(K_{Y/Y_{0}} - F)),$$

$$core(\mathfrak{a}) = \mathfrak{a}H^{0}(Y, \mathcal{O}_{Y}(K_{Y/Y_{0}} - F))$$

$$= IH^{0}(Y, \mathcal{O}_{Y}(K_{Y/Y_{0}} - F)) = H^{0}(Y, \mathcal{O}_{Y}(K_{Y/Y_{0}} - 2F))$$

Hyry and Smith proved the following in the proof of Lemma 5.1.6 in [17]. We need the lemma to prove Proposition 4.1.9. **Lemma 4.1.8.** ([17]) Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be an n-dimensional Cohen-Macaulay local ring, \mathfrak{a} be an m-primary ideal and J be a minimal reduction of \mathfrak{a} with $J\mathfrak{a}^r = \mathfrak{a}^{r+1}$. Let Y be the blowing-up of \mathfrak{a} . Then for $m \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$,

$$H^0(Y,\mathfrak{a}^m\omega_Y) = J^{m+r+1-n}\omega_A :_{\omega_A} \mathfrak{a}^r$$

and

$$J^m \omega_A : \omega_A = J^m.$$

Proposition 4.1.9. Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be a 2-dimensional local ring with a rational singularity, \mathfrak{a} be an *m*-primary integrally closed ideal and *J* be a minimal reduction of \mathfrak{a} . Then for $n \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A,\mathfrak{a}^n) = J^n : \mathfrak{a} = J^{n-1}(J:\mathfrak{a}) = \mathfrak{a}^{n-1}(J:\mathfrak{a}).$$

Proof. Let $f: Y \to X$ be the blowing-up along \mathfrak{a} and $g: Z \to X$ be a log resolution of \mathfrak{a} . Then Y is normal because \mathfrak{a}^m is an integrally closed ideal for any $m \in \mathbb{N}$ (see Theorem 7.1 in [27]). By Proposition 1.2 in [27], Y has a rational singularity. Therefore we have by the projection formula,

$$H^0(Z, \mathfrak{a}^n \omega_Z) = H^0(Y, \mathfrak{a}^n \omega_Y).$$

Thus by Proposition 4.1.4 and Lemma 4.1.8 we have

$$\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a}^{n}) = H^{0}(Y, \mathfrak{a}^{n}\omega_{Y}) : \omega_{A} = (J^{n}\omega_{A} :_{\omega_{A}} \mathfrak{a}) : \omega_{A}$$
$$= (J^{n}\omega_{A} : \omega_{A}) : \mathfrak{a} = J^{n} : \mathfrak{a}.$$

Thus by Lemma 4.1.5, we have

$$\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a}^n) = J^n : \mathfrak{a} = J^{n-1}(J : \mathfrak{a}) = \mathfrak{a}^{n-1}(J : \mathfrak{a}).$$

The following proposition implies that the Skoda's Theorem of ω -multiplier ideals holds for a 2-dimensional local ring with a rational singularity.

Proposition 4.1.10. Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be a 2-dimensional local ring with a rational singularity, \mathfrak{a} be an m-primary ideal and J be a reduction of \mathfrak{a} . Then for $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 2}$,

$$\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A,\mathfrak{a}^n) = \mathfrak{a}\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A,\mathfrak{a}^{n-1}) = J\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A,\mathfrak{a}^{n-1}).$$

Proof. We may assume that \mathfrak{a} is an integrally closed ideal and J is a minimal reduction of \mathfrak{a} . By Proposition 4.1.9, we have

$$\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A,\mathfrak{a}^n) = J^{n-1}(J:\mathfrak{a}) = \mathfrak{a}^{n-1}(J:\mathfrak{a})$$
$$\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A,\mathfrak{a}^{n-1}) = J^{n-2}(J:\mathfrak{a}) = \mathfrak{a}^{n-2}(J:\mathfrak{a}).$$

Therefore we have

$$\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A,\mathfrak{a}^n) = \mathfrak{a}\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A,\mathfrak{a}^{n-1}) = J\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A,\mathfrak{a}^{n-1}).$$

Theorem 4.1.11. Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be a 2-dimensional local ring with a rational singularity, \mathfrak{a} be an \mathfrak{m} -primary ideal. Let $f : Y \to X$ be a log resolution of singularities of \mathfrak{a} such that $\mathfrak{a} \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-F)$ and $f_0 : Y_0 \to X$ be the minimal resolution of singularities. Then for $n \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A,\mathfrak{a}^n) = H^0(Y, \mathcal{O}_Y(K_{Y/Y_0} - nF)).$$

Proof. We may assume that \mathfrak{a} is an integrally closed ideal. Let I be a minimal reduction of \mathfrak{a}^n . By Theorem 4.1.7 we have $I : \mathfrak{a}^n = H^0(Y, \mathcal{O}_Y(K_{Y/Y_0} - nF))$. By Proposition 4.1.9, we have $I : \mathfrak{a}^n = \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a}^n)$. Therefore $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a}^n) = H^0(Y, \mathcal{O}_Y(K_{Y/Y_0} - nF))$.

Corollary 4.1.12. Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be a 2-dimensional local ring with a rational singularity, \mathfrak{a} be an *m*-primary integrally closed ideal and *J* be a minimal reduction of \mathfrak{a} . Then

$$\operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{a}) = \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a}^2) = \mathfrak{a}\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a}) = J\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a}).$$

Proof. By Theorem 4.1.7, Proposition 4.1.10 and Theorem 4.1.11, we have

$$\operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{a}) = \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a}^2) = \mathfrak{a}\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a}) = J\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a}).$$

Proposition 4.1.13. Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be a 2-dimensional local ring with a rational singularity, \mathfrak{a} be an integrally closed \mathfrak{m} -primary ideal. Then

$$e(\mathfrak{a}) = \ell(A/\operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{a})) - 2\ell(A/\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A,\mathfrak{a})).$$

Proof. Let $I = (x_1, x_2)$ be a minimal reduction of \mathfrak{a} . We have

$$\mathbf{e}(\mathfrak{a}) = \ell(A/I) = \ell(A/I\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A,\mathfrak{a})) - \ell(I/I\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A,\mathfrak{a})).$$

By Corollary 4.1.12, $\ell(A/I\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A,\mathfrak{a})) = \ell(A/\operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{a})).$

We will show that $I/I\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a})$ is isomorphic to $A/\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a}) \oplus A/\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a})$. Let $\phi : A/\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a}) \oplus A/\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a}) \to I/I\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a})$ be a map defined by $\phi(a + \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a}), b + \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a})) = x_1a + x_2b + I\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a})$. It is clear that ϕ is surjective. Let $(a + \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a}), b + \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a})) \in \ker\phi$. Then by Proposition 4.1.9,

$$x_1a + x_2b \in I\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a}) = I(I:\mathfrak{a}) = I^2:\mathfrak{a}.$$

Then for any element $h \in \mathfrak{a}$, $(x_1a+x_2b)h \in I^2$. Therefore there are $c_1, c_2, c_3 \in A$ such that $(x_1a + x_2b)h = c_1x_1^2 + c_2x_1x_2 + c_3x_2^2$. Since $x_1ah - c_1x_1^2 \in (x_2), x_2bh - c_3x_2^2 \in (x_1)$ and x_1, x_2 is a regular sequence, we have $ah - c_1x_1 \in (x_2), bh - c_3x_2 \in (x_1)$. Therefore we have $ah, bh \in (x_1, x_2)$. Thus we have $a, b \in I : \mathfrak{a}$. Since $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a}) = I : \mathfrak{a}, \phi$ is injective. Hence ϕ is isomorphism. This implies that $\ell(I/I\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a})) = 2\ell(A/\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a}))$. Thus we have

$$\mathbf{e}(\mathfrak{a}) = \ell(A/\operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{a})) - 2\ell(A/\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A,\mathfrak{a})).$$

Lemma 4.1.14. Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be a 2-dimensional local ring with a rational singularity. Let $f : Y \to X = \text{Spec}A$ be a resolution of singularities of SpecA. We assume that the morphism f is factorized as

$$Y := Y_n \xrightarrow{f_n} Y_{n-1} \xrightarrow{f_{n-1}} \cdots \xrightarrow{f_1} Y_0 \xrightarrow{f_0} X,$$

where $f_i : Y_i \to Y_{i-1}$ is a contraction of a (-1)-curve E_i on Y_i for every i = 1, ..., n and $f_0 : Y_0 \to X$ is the minimal resolution of X. We denote by $\pi_i : Y \to Y_i$ the composition of $f_{i+1}, ..., f_n$ for i = 0, 1, ..., n-1 and by $\pi_n : Y \to Y$ the identity morphism on Y. Let Z be a f-anti-nef cycle on Y and $K = K_{Y/Y_0} = \sum_{i=1}^n \pi_i^* E_i$. Let

$$C = \{ j \in \mathbb{N} | 1 \le i \le n, Z \cdot \pi_j^* E_j < 0 \}.$$

Then

$$\operatorname{an}_f(Z - K) = Z - \sum_{i \in C} \pi_i^* E_i$$

Proof. First we will show that $Z - \sum_{i \in C} \pi_i^* E_i$ is *f*-anti-nef. For each f_0 -exceptional curve F, we have

$$(Z - \sum_{i \in C} \pi_i^* E_i) \cdot \pi_0^{-1} F_* \leq Z \cdot \pi_0^{-1} F_* \leq 0.$$

We assume that for $i \in C$ and $j \notin C$, $\pi_i^* E_i \cdot \pi_j^{-1} E_j = 1$. Then $f_i : Y_i \to Y_{i-1}$ is the blowing-up at a closed point of the strict transform of E_j on Y_{i-1} . This implies that $\pi_i^* E_i \leq \pi_j^* E_j$. Therefore $Z \cdot \pi_j^* E_j \leq Z \cdot \pi_i^* E_i < 0$ since Z is f-anti-nef. This implies that $j \in C$, which is a contradiction. Hence we have $\pi_i^* E_i \cdot \pi_j^{-1} E_j = 0$ for $i \in C$ and $j \notin C$. Thus for $j \notin C$, we have

$$(Z - \sum_{i \in C} \pi_i^* E_i) \cdot \pi_j^{-1} E_j = Z \cdot \pi_j^{-1} E_j = 0.$$

We assume that $Z \cdot \pi_j^{-1} {}_*E_j < 0$ for $j \in C$. Then we have

$$(Z - \sum_{i \in C} \pi_i^* E_i) \cdot \pi_j^{-1} E_j \leq Z \cdot \pi_j^{-1} E_j - \pi_j^* E_j \cdot \pi_j^{-1} E_j = Z \cdot \pi_j^{-1} E_j + 1 \leq 0.$$

We assume that $Z \cdot \pi_j^{-1} E_j = 0$ for $j \in C$. Then there exists $k \in C$ such that $Z \cdot \pi_k^* E_k < 0$, $\pi_k^* E_k \le \pi_j^* E_j$ and $\pi_k^* E_k \cdot \pi_j^{-1} E_j = 1$. Therefore

$$(Z - \sum_{i \in C} \pi_i^* E_i) \cdot \pi_j^{-1} E_j = -\sum_{i \in C} \pi_i^* E_i \cdot \pi_j^{-1} E_j$$
$$\leq -\pi_j^* E_j \cdot \pi_j^{-1} E_j - \pi_k^* E_k \cdot \pi_j^{-1} E_j = 0.$$

By the above discussion, $Z - \sum_{i \in C} \pi_i^* E_i$ is f-anti-nef. This implies that

$$\operatorname{an}_f(Z - K) \le Z - \sum_{i \in C} \pi_i^* E_i.$$

Let Z' be a cycle such that $Z - K \leq Z' < Z - \sum_{i \in C} \pi_i^* E_i$. Next we will show that Z' is not f-anti-nef. Let $F = Z - \sum_{i \in C} \pi_i^* E_i - Z'$ and $\pi_j^{-1} E_j \leq F$. Then there exists $k \notin C$ such that $\pi_j^{-1} E_j \leq \pi_k^* E_k$. Thus we have $j \notin C$. Since $Z \cdot \pi_j^{-1} E_j = 0$ and $\pi_i^* E_i \cdot \pi_j^{-1} E_j = 0$ for $i \in C$ and $j \notin C$,

$$Z' \cdot F = (Z - \sum_{i \in C} \pi_i^* E_i - F) \cdot F = -F \cdot F > 0.$$

Thus Z' is not f-anti-nef. Therefore the minimal f-anti-nef cycle which are bigger than or equal to Z - K is $Z - \sum_{i \in C} \pi_i^* E_i$.
Lemma 4.1.15. Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be a 2-dimensional local ring with a rational singularity. Let $f: Y \to X = \operatorname{Spec} A$ be a log resolution of $\mathfrak{j}_X \mathfrak{d}_X$ such that $\mathfrak{j}_X \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-J)$ and $\mathfrak{d}_X \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-D)$. Let Z be an exceptional f-anti-nef divisor on Y. Let $K^{\omega} = \widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J + D$ and $K = K_{Y/Y_0}$, where Y_0 is the minimal resolution of X. Then

$$\operatorname{ord}_F K^\omega = \operatorname{ord}_F K$$

for any exceptional prime divisor F with $Z \cdot F < 0$.

Proof. The morphism f can be factorized as

$$Y := Y_n \xrightarrow{f_n} Y_{n-1} \xrightarrow{f_{n-1}} \cdots \xrightarrow{f_1} Y_0 \xrightarrow{f_0} X,$$

where $f_i : Y_i \to Y_{i-1}$ is a contraction of a (-1)-curve E_i on Y_i for every $i = 1, \ldots, n$ and $f_0 : Y_0 \to X$ is the minimal resolution of X. We denote by $\pi_i : Y \to Y_i$ the composition of f_{i+1}, \ldots, f_n for $i = 0, 1, \ldots, n-1$ and by $\pi_n : Y \to Y$ the identity morphism on Y. Let

$$C = \{ j \in \mathbb{N} | 1 \le i \le n, Z \cdot \pi_j^* E_j < 0 \}.$$

Then

$$\operatorname{an}_f(nZ - K) = nZ - \sum_{i \in C} \pi_i^* E_i$$

for any positive integer n by Lemma 4.1.14. Let $\mathfrak{a} = f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(-Z)$. Then \mathfrak{a} is an \mathfrak{m} -primary ideal and we have $\mathfrak{a}\mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-Z)$ by Theorem 4.1.2. Therefore $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{a}^n) = f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(K^{\omega} - nZ)$ by Theorem 3.1.3. By Theorem 4.1.11 and Lemma 4.1.14, we have

$$nZ - K^{\omega} \le \operatorname{an}_f(nZ - K^{\omega}) = \operatorname{an}_f(nZ - K) = nZ - \sum_{i \in C} \pi_i^* E_i.$$

This implies that $\sum_{i \in C} \pi_i^* E_i \leq K^{\omega}$. Since $\operatorname{ord}_F \pi_j^* E_j = 0$ for $j \notin C$, we have

$$\operatorname{ord}_F K = \operatorname{ord}_F \sum_{i=1}^n \pi_i^* E_i = \operatorname{ord}_F \sum_{i \in C} \pi_i^* E_i.$$

Therefore we have $\operatorname{ord}_F K^{\omega} \ge \operatorname{ord}_F K$.

We assume that $\operatorname{ord}_F K^{\omega} > \operatorname{ord}_F K$. Then we have

$$K^{\omega} \ge \sum_{i \in C} \pi_i^* E_i + F.$$

Since $Z \cdot F < 0$, there exists $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $nZ - \sum_{i \in C} \pi_i^* E_i - F$ is f-anti-nef. Then

$$\operatorname{an}_{f}(nZ - K^{\omega}) \leq \operatorname{an}_{f}\left(nZ - \left(\sum_{i \in C} \pi_{i}^{*}E_{i} + F\right)\right)$$
$$\leq nZ - \sum_{i \in C} \pi_{i}^{*}E_{i} - F < nZ - \sum_{i \in C} \pi_{i}^{*}E_{i}$$
$$= \operatorname{an}_{f}(nZ - K^{\omega}),$$

which is a contradiction. Therefore we have $\operatorname{ord}_F K^{\omega} = \operatorname{ord}_F K$.

Lemma 4.1.16. Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be a 2-dimensional local ring with a rational singularity. Let $f: Y \to X = \operatorname{Spec} A$ be a resolution of singularities of X and F be a prime exceptional divisor on Y. Then there exists an exceptional f-anti-nef divisor Z on Y with $Z \cdot F < 0$.

Proof. Let Z_f be a fundamental cycle of f. Then there exists a prime exceptional divisor F_1 with $Z \cdot F_1 < 0$. Since $f^{-1}(\mathfrak{m})$ is connected, there exists a sequence $\{F_1, \ldots, F_n\}$ such that F_i is a exceptional prime divisor, $F_i \cdot F_{i+1} = 1$ for $1 \leq i \leq n-1$ and $F_n = F$.

We will make an exceptional f-anti-nef divisor Z_i such that $Z_i \cdot F_i < 0$ for i by induction on i. When i = 1, we can take Z_f as Z_1 . By the induction hypothesis there exists an exceptional f-anti-nef divisor Z_i such that $Z_i \cdot F_i < 0$. Since $Z_i \cdot F_i < 0$, there exists a positive integer n such that $nZ_i - F_i$ is f-anti-nef divisor. Then $(nZ_i - F_i) \cdot F_{i+1} \leq -F_i \cdot F_{i+1} < 0$. Therefore we can take $nZ_i - F_i$ as Z_{i+1} .

Thus there exists an exceptional f-anti-nef divisor Z on Y with $Z \cdot F < 0$.

Proposition 4.1.17. Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be a 2-dimensional local ring with a rational singularity. Let $f: Y \to X = \operatorname{Spec} A$ be a log resolution of $\mathfrak{j}_X \mathfrak{d}_X$ such that $\mathfrak{j}_X \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-J)$ and $\mathfrak{d}_X \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-D)$. Let Z be an exceptional f-anti-nef divisor on Y. Let $K^{\omega} = \widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J + D$ and $K = K_{Y/Y_0}$, where Y_0 is the minimal resolution of X. Then

$$K^{\omega} = K$$

Proof. By Lemma 4.1.16, for any prime exceptional divisor F on Y, there exists an exceptional f-anti-nef divisor Z on Y with $Z \cdot F < 0$. By Lemma 4.1.15, we have $\operatorname{ord}_F K^{\omega} = \operatorname{ord}_F K$. Therefore we have $K^{\omega} = K$.

We need the following lemma to prove Lemma 4.1.19.

Lemma 4.1.18. (Lemma 9.2.19 in [24]) Let X be a smooth variety of dimension n, and D any \mathbb{Q} -divisor on X with simple normal crossing support. Suppose that $f: Y \to X$ is a log resolution of D. Then

$$f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(K_{Y/X} - [f^*D]) = \mathcal{O}_X(-[D]).$$

Lemma 4.1.19. Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be a 2-dimensional normal local ring, \mathfrak{a} be a nonzero ideal of A. Let $f : Y \to X = \operatorname{Spec} A$ be a log resolution of \mathfrak{a} such that $\mathfrak{a} \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-F)$ and $f_0 : Y_0 \to X$ be the minimal resolution of singularities. Then for c > 0, $f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(K_{Y/Y_0} - [cF])$ is independent of the choice of log resolutions.

Proof. Since any two log resolutions can be dominated by a third, we consider the case of two log resolutions of \mathfrak{a} , $f_1: Y_1 \to X$ and $f_2: Y_2 \to X$, with a map between them:



Let $\mathfrak{aO}_{Y_1} = \mathcal{O}_{Y_1}(-F_1)$, $\mathfrak{aO}_{Y_2} = \mathcal{O}_{Y_2}(-F_2)$ and $g: Y_2 \to Y_1$ be the morphism with $f_2 = f_1 \circ g$. Then we have $K_{Y_2/Y_0} = K_{Y_2/Y_1} + g^*(K_{Y_1/Y_0})$ and $F_2 = g^*(F_1)$. By the projection formula and Lemma 4.1.18,

$$f_{2*}\mathcal{O}_Y(K_{Y_2/Y_0} - [cF_2]) = f_{1*}g_*\mathcal{O}_{Y_2}(K_{Y_2/Y_1} + g^*K_{Y_1/Y_0} - [cg^*F_1])$$
$$= f_{1*}\Big(g_*\mathcal{O}_{Y_2}(K_{Y_2/Y_1} - [cg^*F_1]) \otimes \mathcal{O}_{Y_1}(K_{Y_1/Y_0})\Big)$$
$$= f_{1*}\mathcal{O}_{Y_1}(K_{Y_1/Y_0} - [cF_1]).$$

Therefore $f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(K_{Y/Y_0} - [cF])$ is independent of the choice of log resolutions.

Theorem 4.1.20. Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be a 2-dimensional local ring with a rational singularity, \mathfrak{a} be a nonzero ideal of A. Let $f : Y \to X = \operatorname{Spec} A$ be a log resolution of \mathfrak{a} such that $\mathfrak{a} \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-Z)$ and $f_0 : Y_0 \to X$ be the minimal resolution of singularities. Then for c > 0,

$$\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a}^c) = H^0(Y, \mathcal{O}_Y(K_{Y/Y_0} - [cZ])).$$

Proof. By Lemma 4.1.19, we may assume that f is a log resolution of $\mathfrak{j}_X\mathfrak{d}_X\mathfrak{a}$. Let J, D be divisors on Y such that $\mathfrak{j}_X\mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-J)$ and $\mathfrak{d}_X\mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-D)$. Let $K^{\omega} = \widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J + D$ and $K = K_{Y/Y_0}$. By Proposition 4.1.17, $K^{\omega} = K$. This implies that

$$\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a}^{c}) = H^{0}(Y, \mathcal{O}_{Y}(K_{Y/Y_{0}} - [cZ])).$$

Proposition 4.1.21. Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be a 2-dimensional local ring with a rational singularity, \mathfrak{a} be an integrally closed \mathfrak{m} -primary ideal. Then

$$\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{a})) = (\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a}))^2.$$

Proof. Let $f: Y \to X$ be a log resolution of \mathfrak{a} such that $\mathfrak{a} \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-Z)$ for some effective divisor Z on Y. The morphism f can be factorized as

$$Y := Y_n \xrightarrow{f_n} Y_{n-1} \xrightarrow{f_{n-1}} \cdots \xrightarrow{f_1} Y_0 \xrightarrow{f_0} X,$$

where $f_i : Y_i \to Y_{i-1}$ is a contraction of a (-1)-curve E_i on Y_i for every $i = 1, \ldots, n$ and $f_0 : Y_0 \to X$ is the minimal resolution of X. We denote by $\pi_i : Y \to Y_i$ the composition of f_{i+1}, \ldots, f_n for $i = 0, 1, \ldots, n-1$ and by $\pi_n : Y \to Y$ the identity morphism on Y. Let $K = K_{Y/Y_0}$ and

$$C = \{ j \in \mathbb{N} | 1 \le i \le n, Z \cdot \pi_j^* E_j < 0 \}.$$

By Lemma 4.1.14 we have

$$\operatorname{an}_f(Z - K) = Z - \sum_{i \in C} \pi_i^* E_i.$$

By Theorem 4.1.7 we have

$$\operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{a}) = f_* \mathcal{O}_Y(\sum_{i \in C} \pi_i^* E_i - 2Z).$$

Let

$$C' = \{ j \in \mathbb{N} | 1 \le i \le n, (2Z - \sum_{i \in C} \pi_i^* E_i) \cdot \pi_j^* E_j < 0 \}.$$

Then by Lemma 4.1.14 we have

$$an_f(2Z - \sum_{i \in C} \pi_i^* E_i - K) = 2Z - \sum_{i \in C} \pi_i^* E_i - \sum_{i \in C'} \pi_i^* E_i.$$

We will show C = C'. Let $j \in C$. Since $Z \cdot \pi_j^* E_j < 0$ and $\sum_{i \in C} \pi_i^* E_i \cdot \pi_j^* E_j = -1$, we have $(2Z - \sum_{i \in C} \pi_i^* E_i) \cdot \pi_j^* E_j < 0$. Therefore $C \subset C'$.

Hence we will show the opposite inclusion. We assume that we can take $j \in C' \setminus C$. Then $Z \cdot \pi_j^* E_j = 0$ and $\sum_{i \in C} \pi_i^* E_i \cdot \pi_j^* E_j > 0$ since $(2Z - \sum_{i \in C} \pi_i^* E_i) \cdot \pi_j^* E_j < 0$. On the other hand since $\pi_i^* E_i \cdot \pi_j^* E_j = 0$ for $i \neq j$, we have $\sum_{i \in C} \pi_i^* E_i \cdot \pi_j^* E_j$ is 0, which is a contradiction. Thus we have C = C'. This implies that

$$an_f(2Z - \sum_{i \in C} \pi_i^* E_i - K) = 2(Z - \sum_{i \in C} \pi_i^* E_i).$$

Thus we have

$$\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{a})) = f_* \mathcal{O}_Y(K - (2Z - \sum_{i \in C} \pi_i^* E_i))$$
$$= f_* \mathcal{O}_Y(-2(Z - \sum_{i \in C} \pi_i^* E_i)) = (\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a}))^2.$$

Proposition 4.1.22. Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be a 2-dimensional local ring with a rational singularity, \mathfrak{a} be an integrally closed \mathfrak{m} -primary ideal. Then for $n \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{a}^n) = \mathfrak{a}^{2n-1} \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a}).$$

Proof. We have $\operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{a}^n) = \mathfrak{a}^n \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a}^n) = \mathfrak{a}^{2n-1} \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a})$ by Proposition 4.1.10 and Corollary 4.1.12.

Now we introduce some notation: $\operatorname{core}^{1}(\mathfrak{a}) = \operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{a})$ and, for n > 1, $\operatorname{core}^{n}(\mathfrak{a}) = \operatorname{core}^{n-1}(\operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{a})).$ **Proposition 4.1.23.** Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be a 2-dimensional local ring with a rational singularity, \mathfrak{a} be an integrally closed \mathfrak{m} -primary ideal. Then for $n \in \mathbb{N}$,

coreⁿ(
$$\mathfrak{a}$$
) = $\mathfrak{a}(\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a}))^{2^{n}-1}$.

In particular, $\operatorname{core}(\operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{a})) = \mathfrak{a}(\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a}))^3$.

Proof. We have $\operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{a}) = \mathfrak{a}(\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a}))$ by Corollary 4.1.12. Now let n > 1 and assume that the proposition holds for n-1. Then by Proposition 4.1.21

$$\operatorname{core}^{n}(\mathfrak{a}) = \operatorname{core}^{n-1}(\operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{a}))$$
$$= \operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{a}) \left(\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{a})) \right)^{2^{n-1}-1}$$
$$= \mathfrak{a} \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a}) \left((\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a}))^{2} \right)^{2^{n-1}-1}$$
$$= \mathfrak{a} (\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{a}))^{2^{n-1}}.$$

Proposition 4.1.24. Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be a 2-dimensional local ring with a rational singularity. Let $X = \operatorname{Spec} A$. Let \mathfrak{j}_X be the Jacobian ideal of X and \mathfrak{d}_X be the lci-defect ideal of X. Let $f: Y \to X$ be a log resolution of $\mathfrak{j}_X \cdot \mathfrak{d}_X$ such that $\mathfrak{j}_X \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-J_{Y/X})$ and $\mathfrak{d}_X \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-D_{Y/X})$ for some effective divisors $J_{Y/X}$ and $D_{Y/X}$ on Y. Then

$$R^1 f_* \mathcal{O}_Y(\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_{Y/X} + D_{Y/X}) = 0.$$

Proof. If X is locally a complete intersection, then $\mathfrak{d}_X = \mathcal{O}_X$. Therefore $D_{Y/X} = 0$. Then by Local Vanishing Theorem (see Theorem 3.5 in [8]),

$$R^1 f_* \mathcal{O}_Y(\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_{Y/X} + D_{Y/X}) = 0.$$

We assume that X is not locally a complete intersection. Let $I = (x_1, x_2)$ be a minimal reduction of \mathfrak{d}_X . If V is the \mathbb{C} -vector space generated by x_1, x_2 , then we have on Y an exact Koszul complex

$$0 \to \wedge^2 V \otimes \mathcal{O}_Y(2D_{Y/X}) \to V \otimes \mathcal{O}_Y(D_{Y/X}) \to \mathcal{O}_Y \to 0.$$

Let $\mathcal{L}_n = \mathcal{O}_Y(\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_{Y/X} + D_{Y/X} - nD_{Y/X})$. By tensoring with \mathcal{L}_2 we get the exact complex

$$0 \to \wedge^2 V \otimes \mathcal{L}_0 \to V \otimes \mathcal{L}_1 \to \mathcal{L}_2 \to 0.$$

Since $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{d}^2) = I \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A, \mathfrak{d}^1)$ by Proposition 4.1.10, the map $V \otimes f_* \mathcal{L}_1 \to f_* \mathcal{L}_2$ is surjective. Hence the map

$$\wedge^2 V \otimes R^1 f_* \mathcal{O}_Y(\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_{Y/X} + D_{Y/X}) \to V \otimes R^1 f_* \mathcal{O}_Y(\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_{Y/X})$$

is injective. Since $R^1 f_* \mathcal{O}_Y(\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_{Y/X}) = 0$ by Local Vanishing Theorem (see [8]), we have

$$R^{1}f_{*}\mathcal{O}_{Y}(\hat{K}_{Y/X} - J_{Y/X} + D_{Y/X}) = 0.$$

4.2 Subadditivity thorem for ω -multiplier ideals of a 2-dimensional singularity

In this section, we investigate when the subadditivity theorem of ω -multiplier ideals holds in the two-dimensional case.

Demailly, Ein and Lazarsfeld proved the following theorem, which is called the subadditivity theorem.

Theorem 4.2.1. ([4]) Let (A, m) be a regular local ring. Then for any two nonzero ideals $\mathfrak{a}, \mathfrak{b} \subset \mathcal{O}_X$ and any rational numbers c, d > 0,

$$\mathcal{J}(X,\mathfrak{a}^{c}\mathfrak{b}^{d})\subset \mathcal{J}(X,\mathfrak{a}^{c})\mathcal{J}(X,\mathfrak{b}^{d}).$$

In this paper, we say that the subadditivity theorem holds if $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{ab}) \subset \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{a})\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{b})$ for any two nonzero ideals $\mathfrak{a}, \mathfrak{b} \subset \mathcal{O}_X$, and the strong subadditivity theorem holds if $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{a}^c \mathfrak{b}^d) \subset \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{a}^c)\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{b}^d)$ for any two nonzero ideals $\mathfrak{a}, \mathfrak{b} \subset \mathcal{O}_X$ and any rational numbers c, d > 0.

The following lemma seems to be well known to the specialists, but for lack of an explicit reference we give its proof. **Lemma 4.2.2.** Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be a two-dimensional rational singularity and fix a resolution of singularities $f : Y \to \text{Spec}A$. Let Z_1, Z_2 be two effective f-anti-nef divisors on Y. Then $f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(-Z_1) \subset f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(-Z_2)$ if and only if $Z_1 \ge Z_2$.

Proof. If $Z_1 \geq Z_2$, then $f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(-Z_1) \subset f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(-Z_2)$. Hence we will show the converse implication. Suppose, by way of contradiction, $f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(-Z_1) \subset f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(-Z_2)$ and $Z_1 \not\geq Z_2$. Note that $f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(-Z_1) \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-Z_1)$ by Theorem 4.1.2. Then

$$x \in f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(-Z_2) : f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(-Z_1) \Leftrightarrow xf_*\mathcal{O}_Y(-Z_1) \subset f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(-Z_2)$$
$$\Leftrightarrow f^*x \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y(-Z_1) \subset \mathcal{O}_Y(-Z_2) \Leftrightarrow f^*x \in \mathcal{O}_Y(Z_1 - Z_2)$$
$$\Leftrightarrow x \in f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(Z_1 - Z_2).$$

Therefore we have $f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(-Z_2)$: $f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(-Z_1) = f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(Z_1-Z_2)$. Since

$$f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(-Z_1) \subset f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(-Z_2),$$

we have $f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(-Z_2) : f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(-Z_1) = A$. On the other hand we have $f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(Z_1-Z_2) \neq A$ since $Z_1 \not\geq Z_2$. Thus if $f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(-Z_1) \subset f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(-Z_2)$, then $Z_1 \geq Z_2$. \Box

Theorem 4.2.3. Let (A, m) be a two-dimensional normal local ring. Then X = SpecA has a rational singularity if and only if the subadditivity theorem of ω -multiplier ideals holds, that is, for any two nonzero ideals $\mathfrak{a}, \mathfrak{b} \subset \mathcal{O}_X$,

$$\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{ab}) \subset \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{a})\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{b}).$$

Proof. If the subadditivity theorem holds, then $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathcal{O}_X) \subset \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathcal{O}_X)^2$. Thus $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathcal{O}_X) = \mathcal{O}_X$, namely X has a rational singularity. Hence we will show the converse implication, that is, we will prove that for any two ideals \mathfrak{a} , $\mathfrak{b} \subset \mathcal{O}_X$, $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{b}) \subset \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{a})\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{b})$, when X has a rational singularity. Let $f: Y \to X$ be a resolution of singularities such that $\mathfrak{a}\mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-F_{\mathfrak{a}})$ and $\mathfrak{b}\mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-F_{\mathfrak{b}})$ are invertible and $\operatorname{Exc}(f) \cup \operatorname{Supp} F_{\mathfrak{a}} \cup \operatorname{Supp} F_{\mathfrak{b}}$ is a simple normal crossing divisor. Denote by K the relative canonical divisor K_{Y/Y_0} , where Y_0 is the minimal resolution of X. By Theorem 4.1.20, we have

$$\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{a})\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{b}) = H^0(Y,\mathcal{O}_Y(K-F_\mathfrak{a}))H^0(Y,\mathcal{O}_Y(K-F_\mathfrak{b}))$$

$$\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{ab}) = H^0(Y, \mathcal{O}_Y(K - F_{\mathfrak{a}} - F_{\mathfrak{b}})).$$

Since X has a rational singularity, the product of integrally closed ideals of X is also integrally closed (see [27]). Hence $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{a})\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{b})$ and $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{b})$ are integrally closed, and $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{a})\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{b})$ and $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{b})$ correspond to the cycles $\operatorname{an}_f(F_{\mathfrak{a}} - K) + \operatorname{an}_f(F_{\mathfrak{b}} - K)$ and $\operatorname{an}_f(F_{\mathfrak{a}} + F_{\mathfrak{b}} - K)$, respectively. Therefore, it suffices to show that

$$\operatorname{an}_f(F_{\mathfrak{a}} - K) + \operatorname{an}_f(F_{\mathfrak{b}} - K) \le \operatorname{an}_f(F_{\mathfrak{a}} + F_{\mathfrak{b}} - K).$$

In order to prove this, we prepare some notation. The morphism f can be factorized as

$$Y := Y_n \xrightarrow{f_n} Y_{n-1} \xrightarrow{f_{n-1}} \cdots \xrightarrow{f_1} Y_0 \xrightarrow{f_0} X_n$$

where $f_i : Y_i \to Y_{i-1}$ is a contraction of a (-1)-curve E_i on Y_i for every $i = 1, \ldots, n$ and $f_0 : Y_0 \to X$ is the minimal resolution of X. We denote by $\pi_i : Y \to Y_i$ the composition of f_{i+1}, \ldots, f_n for $i = 0, 1, \ldots, n-1$ and by $\pi_n : Y \to Y$ the identity morphism on Y. Using Lemma 4.1.14, we will prove

$$\operatorname{an}_f(F_{\mathfrak{a}}-K) + \operatorname{an}_f(F_{\mathfrak{b}}-K) \le \operatorname{an}_f(F_{\mathfrak{a}}+F_{\mathfrak{b}}-K).$$

Let

$$C_{\mathfrak{a}} = \{ j \in \mathbb{N} | 1 \le i \le n, F_{\mathfrak{a}} \cdot \pi_j^* E_j < 0 \},$$
$$C_{\mathfrak{b}} = \{ j \in \mathbb{N} | 1 \le i \le n, F_{\mathfrak{b}} \cdot \pi_j^* E_j < 0 \}$$

and

$$C_{\mathfrak{ab}} = \{ j \in \mathbb{N} | 1 \le i \le n, (F_{\mathfrak{a}} + F_{\mathfrak{b}}) \cdot \pi_j^* E_j < 0 \}$$

Then we have $C_{\mathfrak{ab}} \subset C_{\mathfrak{a}} \cup C_{\mathfrak{b}}$. Therefore by Lemma 4.1.14,

$$an_f(F_{\mathfrak{a}} - K) + an_f(F_{\mathfrak{b}} - K) = F_{\mathfrak{a}} - \sum_{i \in C_{\mathfrak{a}}} \pi_i^* E_i + F_{\mathfrak{b}} - \sum_{i \in C_{\mathfrak{b}}} \pi_i^* E_i$$
$$\leq F_{\mathfrak{a}} + F_{\mathfrak{b}} - \sum_{i \in C_{\mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{b}}} \pi_i^* E_i = an_f(F_{\mathfrak{a}} + F_{\mathfrak{b}} - K).$$

Lemma 4.2.4. Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be an n-dimensional local ring and I be a nonzero ideal of A. Let $f : Y \to X = \operatorname{Spec} A$ be a log resolution of I such that $I\mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-F)$. Then for any divisor K on Y,

$$f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(K): I = f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(K+F).$$

Proof. Then

$$x \in f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(K) : I \Leftrightarrow xI \subset f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(K)$$
$$\Leftrightarrow f^*x \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y(-F) \subset \mathcal{O}_Y(K) \Leftrightarrow f^*x \in \mathcal{O}_Y(K+F)$$
$$\Leftrightarrow x \in f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(K+F).$$

Therefore we have $f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(K) : I = f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(K+F)$.

Corollary 4.2.5. Let (A, m) be a two-dimensional normal local ring. Then $X = \operatorname{Spec} A$ has a rational singularity if and only if the subadditivity theorem of cores of ideals holds, that is, for any two \mathfrak{m} -primary integral closed ideals $\mathfrak{a}, \mathfrak{b} \subset \mathcal{O}_X$,

$$\operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{ab}) \subset \operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{a})\operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{b}).$$

Proof. If A has a rational singularity, then

$$\operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{ab}) = \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{a}^{2}\mathfrak{b}^{2}) \subset \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{a}^{2})\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{b}^{2}) = \operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{a})\operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{b})$$

by Corollary 4.1.12 and Theorem 4.2.3. Hence we will show the converse implication. Let I be an **m**-primary integral closed ideal such that g: Z = $\operatorname{Proj} A[I] \to X = \operatorname{Spec} A$ is a resolution of singularities. Let F' be an effective divisor on Z such that $I\mathcal{O}_Z = \mathcal{O}_Z(-F')$. Let $f: Y \to X$ be a log resolution of $\mathfrak{j}_X \cdot \mathfrak{d}_X \cdot I$ such that $\mathfrak{j}_X \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-J_{Y/X}), \mathfrak{d}_X \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-D_{Y/X})$, and $I \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-F)$ for some effective divisors $J_{Y/X}, D_{Y/X}$ and F on Y. Let $K = \widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_{Y/X} + D_{Y/X}$. Then

$$\operatorname{core}(I) = g_* \mathcal{O}_Z(K_Z - 2F') : \omega_X = f_* \mathcal{O}_Y(K_Y - 2F) : \omega_X$$
$$= \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, I^2) = f_* \mathcal{O}_Y(K - 2F)$$

by Lemma 2.3.9, Lemma 2.3.11 and Theorem 3.1.3. In the same manner, we have

$$\operatorname{core}(I^2) = f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(K - 4F).$$

Next we will show that

$$f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(K-2F) \subset f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(2^{n-1}K-2F)$$

for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$ by induction on n. When n = 1, the assertion is trivial. By the induction hypothesis and subadditivity of cores of ideals, we have

$$f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(K-4F) = \operatorname{core}(I^2) \subset (\operatorname{core}(I))^2 = (f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(K-2F))^2$$
$$\subset (f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(2^{n-1}K-2F))^2 \subset f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(2^nK-4F).$$

Therefore we have

$$f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(K-2F) = f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(K-4F) : I^2$$
$$\subset f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(2^nK-4F) : I^2 = f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(2^nK-2F)$$

by Lemma 4.2.4. By the above discussion, we have

$$f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(K-2F) \subset f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(2^{n-1}K-2F)$$

for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$. By Lemma 4.2.4 we have for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(K) = f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(K-2F) : I^2 \subset f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(2^{n-1}K-2F) : I^2 = f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(2^{n-1}K).$$

This implies that K is effective. Since $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(A) = f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(K) = A$, A has a rational singularity.

In order that the strong subadditivity theorem of ω -multiplier ideal holds, non-singularness is necessary.

Proposition 4.2.6. Let (A, m) be a two-dimensional normal local ring. Then $X = \operatorname{Spec} A$ is regular if and only if the strong subadditivity theorem of ω -multiplier ideals holds, that is, for any two nonzero ideals $\mathfrak{a}, \mathfrak{b} \subset \mathcal{O}_X$ and any rational numbers c, d > 0,

$$\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{a}^{c}\mathfrak{b}^{d})\subset \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{a}^{c})\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{b}^{d}).$$

Proof. If A is regular, then the strong subadditivity theorem holds (see [4]). Hence we will show the converse implication. In order that the strong subadditivity theorem holds, by Theorem 4.2.3, it is necessary that A is a rational singularity. Assume that A is not regular. Let $f: Y \to X$ be the minimal resolution and F be the fundamental cycle of f. We assume that the exceptional locus of f is irreducible. Then F is the f-exceptional prime divisor. Let $g: Z \to Y$ be the blowing-up at closed point of F and $h: Z \to X$ be the composite morphism of f and g. We denote by E_1 the strict transform of F and by E_2 the exceptional divisor of g. Let $n = -E_1 \cdot E_1$, $C = (n-1)E_1 + 2nE_2$ and $K = K_{Z/Y} = E_2$. Then C and $(n-1)E_1 + (2n-1)E_2$ are h-anti-nef since $n = -E_1 \cdot E_1 = -F \cdot F + 1 \ge 3$. Since $E_1 + E_2$ is the fundamental cycle of h, we have

$$an_h(\lfloor \frac{1}{n}C - K \rfloor) = E_1 + E_2$$
$$an_h(C - K) = (n - 1)E_1 + (2n - 1)E_2$$

These imply that

$$h_*\mathcal{O}_Z(-\mathrm{an}_h(C-K)) \not\subset \left(h_*\mathcal{O}_Z(-\mathrm{an}_h(\lfloor \frac{1}{n}C-K \rfloor))\right)^n$$

by Lemma 4.2.2. Therefore, denoting the ideal $I = h_* \mathcal{O}_Z(-C)$, we have $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, I) \not\subset \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, I^{\frac{1}{n}})^n$ by Theorem 4.1.20. Thus the strong subadditivity theorem does not hold on A.

We assume that the exceptional locus of f is reducible. Let E be a f-exceptional prime divisor such that $F \cdot E < 0$. Then there exists $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that nF - E is f-anti-nef. Since F is the fundamental cycle of f, we have

$$\operatorname{an}_{f}(\lfloor \frac{1}{n}(nF-E) \rfloor)) = F,$$
$$\operatorname{an}_{f}(nF-E) = nF-E.$$

These imply that

$$f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(-\operatorname{an}_f(nF-E)) \not\subset \left(f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(-\operatorname{an}_f(\lfloor\frac{1}{n}(nF-E)\rfloor))\right)^n$$

by Lemma 4.2.2. Therefore, denoting the ideal $I = f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(-nF+E)$, we have $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,I) \not\subset \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,I^{\frac{1}{n}})^n$ by Theorem 4.1.20. Thus the strong subadditivity theorem does not hold on A.

According to the above discussion, if A is not regular, then the strong subadditivity theorem does not hold on A.

Remark 4.2.7. In higher dimensional case, we have a counterexample to Theorem 4.2.3.

Takagi and Watanabe gave the following counterexample to the subadditivity of multiplier ideals in a 3-dimensional hypersurface local ring in [37]. Since the ring is Gorenstein, the multiplier ideals are ω -multiplier ideals by Proposition 3.1.10.

Example 4.2.8. Let $A = (\mathbb{C}[X, Y, Z, W]/(X^2 + Y^4 + Z^4 + W^5))_{(X,Y,Z,W)}$ and $\mathfrak{m} = (x, y, z, w)$, where x, y, z, w are the images of X, Y, Z, W in A. Then A is a Gorenstein canonical singularity, but not a terminal singularity. Therefore A is a rational singularity, $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(\mathfrak{m}) = \mathfrak{m}$ and $\overline{\mathfrak{m}^2} \subset \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(\mathfrak{m}^2)$. Since $x^2 \in \mathfrak{m}^4$, we have $x \in \overline{\mathfrak{m}^2}$. Hence $x \in \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(\mathfrak{m}^2)$ and $x \notin \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(\mathfrak{m})\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(\mathfrak{m})$. Thus $\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(\mathfrak{m}^2) \notin \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(\mathfrak{m})\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(\mathfrak{m})$.

4.3 Integrally closed ideals on surface with a rational singularity

In this section, we show that all integrally closed ideals on surface with a rational singularity are ω -multiplier ideals.

Theorem 4.3.1. Let (A, m) be a two-dimensional normal local ring. Suppose X =SpecA has a rational singularity. Then every integrally closed ideal is an ω -multiplier ideal.

Favre, Jonsson, Lipman and Watanabe showed that all integrally closed ideals on regular surfaces are multiplier ideals (see [10] and [29]). Our result is a generalization of this theorem since ω -multiplier ideals of regular scheme are multiplier ideals.

Definition 4.3.2. Let (A, m) be a two-dimensional normal local ring. Let $f: Y \to X$ be a resolution of singularities such that $f^{-1}(\mathfrak{m})$ is a simple normal crossing divisor. Let E_1, \ldots, E_u be the irreducible components of $f^{-1}(\mathfrak{m})$. \check{E}_i is defined to be a effective exceptional Q-divisor such that

$$\check{E}_i \cdot E_j = \begin{cases} -1 & (i=j) \\ 0 & (i\neq j) \end{cases}$$

$$(4.1)$$

Definition 4.3.3. Let Y be a 2-dimensional regular scheme and $x^{(i)}$ be a closed point of Y. A generic sequence of n-blowing-ups over $x^{(i)}$ is:

$$Y_n \xrightarrow{f_n} Y_{n-1} \xrightarrow{f_{n-1}} \cdots \xrightarrow{f_1} Y_0 = Y$$

where f_i is the blowing-up of $Y_0 = Y$ at $x_1 := x^{(i)}$, and $f_k : Y_k \to Y_{k-1}$ is the blowing-up of Y_{k-1} at general closed point x_k of $(f_{k-1})^{-1}(x_{k-1})$ for $k = 2, \ldots, n$. Let $f : Y_n \to Y$ be the composition $f_1 \circ \cdots \circ f_n$. Let $E(x^{(i)}, k), k = 1, \ldots, n$ be the strict transforms of the *n* new *f*-exceptional divisors created by blowing-ups f_1, \ldots, f_n respectively.

Lipman and Watanabe stated the following in [29].

Remark 4.3.4. f^{-1} is a chain of n integral curve $E(x^{(i)}, 1), \ldots, E(x^{(i)}, n)$ such that for 0 < k < n,

$$E(x^{(i)}, k) \cdot E(x^{(i)}, k+1) = 1,$$

 $E(x^{(i)}, k) \cdot E(x^{(i)}, k) = -2$

while

$$E(x^{(i)}, n) \cdot E(x^{(i)}, n) = -1;$$

and if |k' - k| > 1 then

$$E(x^{(i)}, k') \cdot E(x^{(i)}, k) = 0.$$

Lemma 4.3.5. Let Y be a 2-dimensional regular scheme and $x^{(i)}$ be a closed point of Y. Let $f: Y_n \to Y$ be a generic sequence of n-blowing-ups over $x^{(i)}$. As in Definition 4.3.3 denote by $E(x^{(i)}, 1), \ldots, E(x^{(i)}, n)$ the strict transforms of the n exceptional divisors over $x^{(i)}$. Then

$$K_f := K_{Y_n} - f^*(K_Y) = \sum_{k=1}^n k E(x^{(i)}, k).$$

Proof. We will show the lemma by induction of n. When n = 1, we have $K_f := K_{Y_1} - f^*(K_Y) = E(x^{(i)}, k)$. By in the induction hypothesis, $K_{Y_{n-1}/K_Y} = \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} k E(x^{(i)}, k)$. Therefore

$$K_{Y_n} - f^*(K_Y) = K_{Y_n/Y_{n-1}} + f^*_n K_{Y_{n-1}/K_Y}$$

$$= nE(x^{(i)}, n) + \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} kE(x^{(i)}, k) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} kE(x^{(i)}, k).$$

Lemma 4.3.6. Let Y be a 2-dimensional regular scheme and $x^{(i)}$ be a closed point of Y. Let $f: Y_n \to Y$ be a generic sequence of n-blowing-ups over $x^{(i)}$. As in Definition 4.3.3 denote by $E(x^{(i)}, 1), \ldots, E(x^{(i)}, n)$ the strict transforms of the n exceptional divisors over $x^{(i)}$. Let $K_f = K_{Y_n} - f^*(K_Y)$. Then

$$K_f \cdot E(x^{(i)}, k) = \begin{cases} -1 & (k = n) \\ 0 & (k \neq n) \end{cases}$$
(4.2)

Proof. By Lemma 4.3.5, $K_f := K_{Y_n} - f^*(K_Y) = \sum_{k=1}^n k E(x^{(i)}, k)$. For $k \neq n$, by Remark 4.3.4

$$K_f \cdot E(x^{(i)}, k)$$

= $\left((k-1)E(x^{(i)}, k-1) + kE(x^{(i)}, k) + (k+1)E(x^{(i)}, k+1) \right) \cdot E(x^{(i)}, k)$
= $(k-1) - 2k + (k+1) = 0.$

By Remark 4.3.4

$$K_f \cdot E(x^{(i)}, n)$$

= $\left((n-1)E(x^{(i)}, n-1) + nE(x^{(i)}, n) \right) \cdot E(x^{(i)}, n)$
= $(n-1) - n = -1.$

Г		٦	
-			

Tucker showed the following in [38].

Lemma 4.3.7. ([38]) Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be a 2-dimensional normal local ring. Let $f: Y \to X = \operatorname{Spec} A$ be a resolution of singularities such that $f^{-1}(\mathfrak{m})$ is a simple normal crossing divisor. Let E_1, \ldots, E_u be the irreducible components of $f^{-1}(\mathfrak{m})$. Suppose $x^{(i)}$ be a closed point of E_i with $x^{(i)} \notin E_j$ for $j \neq i$. Let $g: Y_n \to Y$ be a generic sequence of n-blowing-ups over $x^{(i)}$. As in Definition 4.3.3 denote by $E(x^{(i)}, 1), \ldots, E(x^{(i)}, n)$ the strict transforms of the n exceptional divisors over $x^{(i)}$ and E(i) the strict transforms of E_1, \ldots, E_u on Y_n . Then

(1) $\check{E}(i) \le \check{E}(x^{(i)}, 1) \le \dots \le \check{E}(x^{(i)}, n).$

(2) Suppose D is an integral $f \circ g$ -anti-nef divisor on Y_n such that E_i is the unique component of g_*D containing $x^{(i)}$. Then

 $\operatorname{ord}_{E(i)}D \leq \operatorname{ord}_{E(x^{(i)},1)}D \leq \cdots \leq \operatorname{ord}_{E(x^{(i)},n)}D.$

Further $\operatorname{ord}_{E(i)} D < \operatorname{ord}_{E(x^{(i)},n)} D$ if and only if

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} (-D \cdot E(x^{(i)}, k)) \check{E}(x^{(i)}, k) \ge \check{E}(i).$$

Tuker showed that all integrally closed ideals on log terminal surfaces are multiplier ideals (see [38]). Our proof is just an imitation of the proof of the Theorem 1.1 of [38].

We will begin the proof of Theorem 4.3.1.

Proof. Let $I \subset \mathcal{O}_X$ be an integrally closed ideal. We will construct an ideal \mathfrak{a} and $c \in \mathbb{Q}_{>0}$ such that $I = \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{a}^c)$. Let $f: Y \to X$ be a log resolution of $\mathfrak{j}_X \cdot \mathfrak{d}_X \cdot I$ with exceptional divisors E_1, \ldots, E_u such that $\mathfrak{j}_X \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-J_{Y/X})$, $\mathfrak{d}_X \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-D_{Y/X})$ and $I \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-F_0)$. Let $K = \widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_{Y/X} + D_{Y/X}$. Write

$$K = \sum_{i=1}^{u} b_i E_i,$$

$$F_0 = (f^{-1})_* f_*(F_0) + \sum_{i=1}^{u} a_i E_i$$

Note that $b_i \geq 0$ since X has a rational singularity. Let $0 < \epsilon < 1/2$ such that $\lfloor \epsilon(f^{-1})_* f_*(F_0) \rfloor = 0$ and $\epsilon(a_i + 1) < 1 + b_i$ for $i = 1, \ldots, u$. Let $n_i := \lfloor \frac{1+b_i}{\epsilon} - (a_i + 1) \rfloor > 0$ and $e_i := (-F_0 \cdot E_i)$. Choose e_i distinct closed points $x_1^{(i)}, \ldots, x_{e_i}^{(i)}$ on E_i such that $x_j^{(i)} \notin \text{Supp}((f^{-1})_* f_*(F_0))$ and $x_j^{(i)} \notin E_l$ for $l \neq i$. Denote by $g: Z \to Y$ the composition of generic sequence of n_i blowing-ups over each of the points $x_j^{(i)}$ for $j = 1, \ldots, e_i$ and $i = 1, \ldots, u$. As in Definition 4.3.3 denote by $E(x_j^{(i)}, 1), \ldots, E(x_j^{(i)}, n_i)$ the strict transforms of the n_i exceptional divisors over $x_j^{(i)}$ and $E(1), \ldots, E(u)$ the strict transforms of E_1, \ldots, E_u .

Let $h := f \circ g$ and $F = g^*(F_0)$. By Lemma 4.3.5 and Lemma 4.3.6,

$$K_g := K_Z - g^*(K_Y) = \sum_{i=1}^u \sum_{j=1}^{e_i} \sum_{k=1}^{n_i} k E(x_j^{(i)}, k)$$

and

$$K_g \cdot E(i) = e_i$$

$$K_g \cdot E(x_j^{(i)}, k) = \begin{cases} -1 & (k = n_i) \\ 0 & (k \neq n_i) \end{cases}$$
(4.3)

Then $F + K_g$ is *h*-anti-nef since

$$F \cdot E(i) = F_0 \cdot E_i = -e_i, \quad F \cdot E(x_j^{(i)}, k) = 0.$$

Let $K' = K_g + g^*(K)$, $\mathfrak{a} = h_*\mathcal{O}_Z(-(F + K_g))$ and $c = 1 + \epsilon$. Then by Theorem 4.1.2, we have $\mathfrak{a}\mathcal{O}_Z = \mathcal{O}_Z(-(F + K_g))$.

We will show $I = \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{a}^c) = h_* \mathcal{O}_Z(-F)$. By Theorem 3.1.3,

$$\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{a}^c) = h_*\mathcal{O}_Z(-\lfloor c(F+K_g) - K'\rfloor).$$

Therefore it suffices to show that

$$F' := \operatorname{an}_h(\lfloor c(F + K_g) - K' \rfloor) = F,$$

by Lemma 4.1.3.

Claim 1 We have $F' \leq F$ and $h_*F' = h_*F$. In addition, for $i = 1, \ldots, u$ and $j = 1, \ldots, e_i$,

$$\operatorname{ord}_{E(x_j^{(i)}, n_i)}(F') = \operatorname{ord}_{E(x_j^{(i)}, n_i)}(F) = \operatorname{ord}_{E(i)}(F).$$

proof of Claim 1. By the definition of a generic sequence of blowing-up, we have

$$\operatorname{ord}_{E(x_j^{(i)},n_i)}(F) = \operatorname{ord}_{E(i)}(F).$$

Since $F' = \mathrm{an}_h(\lfloor c(F+K_g)-K' \rfloor)$ and F are h-anti-nef, it suffices to show that

$$\lfloor c(F + K_g) - K' \rfloor \leq F,$$

$$h_* \lfloor c(F + K_g) - K' \rfloor = h_* F,$$

$$\operatorname{ord}_{E(x_j^{(i)}, n_i)}(\lfloor c(F + K_g) - K' \rfloor) = \operatorname{ord}_{E(x_j^{(i)}, n_i)}(F).$$

We have

$$\lfloor c(F+K_g)-K'\rfloor = F + \lfloor \epsilon(F+K_g) - g^*K \rfloor.$$

Since $\lfloor \epsilon(f^{-1})_* f_*(F_0) \rfloor = 0$, it follows that $h_* \lfloor c(F + K_g) - K' \rfloor = h_* F$. Consider the coefficients of $\epsilon(F + K_g) - g^* K$. We have

$$\operatorname{ord}_{E(i)}(\epsilon(F+K_g)-g^*K) = \epsilon a_i - b_i < 1,$$
$$\operatorname{ord}_{E(x_j^{(i)},k)}(\epsilon(F+K_g)-g^*K) = \epsilon(a_i+k) - b_i.$$
Since $0 < \epsilon < 1/2$ and $\frac{1+b_i}{\epsilon} - (a_i+1) - 1 < n_i \leq \frac{1+b_i}{\epsilon} - (a_i+1)$, we have $0 < 1 - 2\epsilon < \epsilon(a_i + n_i) - b_i \leq 1 - \epsilon < 1.$

Therefore we have

$$\operatorname{ord}_{E(x_j^{(i)},k)} \lfloor \epsilon(F + K_g) - g^* K \rfloor \leq 0$$
$$\operatorname{ord}_{E(x_j^{(i)},n_i)} \lfloor \epsilon(F + K_g) - g^* K \rfloor = 0.$$

Thus we have $F' \leq F$ and

$$\operatorname{ord}_{E(x_j^{(i)}, n_i)}(F') = \operatorname{ord}_{E(x_j^{(i)}, n_i)}(F).$$

Claim	2	For	each	i	=	1,				,	u,
-------	----------	-----	------	---	---	----	--	--	--	---	----

$$(-F' \cdot E(i))\check{E}(i) + \sum_{j=1}^{e_i} \sum_{k=1}^{n_i} (-F' \cdot E(x_j^{(i)}, k))\check{E}(x_j^{(i)}, k) \ge (-F \cdot E(i))\check{E}(i).$$

proof of Claim 2.

1. We assume that $\operatorname{ord}_{E(i)}F' = \operatorname{ord}_{E(i)}F$. We have $F' \cdot E(i) \leq F \cdot E(i)$ since we have $F' \leq F$ by Claim 1. Since $\check{E}(i)$ and $\check{E}(x_j^{(i)}, k)$ are effective and F' is *h*-anti-nef, we have

$$(-F' \cdot E(i))\check{E}(i) + \sum_{j=1}^{e_i} \sum_{k=1}^{n_i} (-F' \cdot E(x_j^{(i)}, k))\check{E}(x_j^{(i)}, k) \ge (-F \cdot E(i))\check{E}(i).$$

2. We assume that $\operatorname{ord}_{E(i)}F' < \operatorname{ord}_{E(i)}F = \operatorname{ord}_{E(x_j^{(i)}, n_i)}F'$. Then for each $j = 1, \ldots, e_i$ we have

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n_i} (-F' \cdot E(x_j^{(i)}, k)) \check{E}(x_j^{(i)}, k) \ge \check{E}(i)$$

by Lemma 4.3.7. Therefore we have

$$(-F' \cdot E(i))\check{E}(i) + \sum_{j=1}^{e_i} \sum_{k=1}^{n_i} (-F' \cdot E(x_j^{(i)}, k))\check{E}(x_j^{(i)}, k)$$

$$\geq \sum_{j=1}^{e_i} \sum_{k=1}^{n_i} (-F' \cdot E(x_j^{(i)}, k))\check{E}(x_j^{(i)}, k)$$

$$\geq e_i\check{E}(i) = (-F \cdot E(i))\check{E}(i)$$

Next we will prove that $F' \ge F$. By the two claims, we have

$$F' = h^* h_* F' + \sum_{i=1}^u \left((-F' \cdot E(i))\check{E}(i) + \sum_{j=1}^{e_i} \sum_{k=1}^{n_i} (-F' \cdot E(x_j^{(i)}, k))\check{E}(x_j^{(i)}, k) \right)$$
$$\geq h^* h_* F + \sum_{i=1}^u (-F \cdot E(i))\check{E}(i) = F.$$
Therefore we have $F = F'$ by Claim 1. Thus $I = \mathcal{I}^{\mathcal{W}}(Y, \mathfrak{a}^{\mathcal{C}})$

Therefore we have F = F' by Claim 1. Thus $I = \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X, \mathfrak{a}^c)$.

Remark 4.3.8. In higher dimensional case, we have counterexamples to Theorem 4.3.1 (see [25] and [26]).

Chapter 5

Upper bound of the multiplicity

5.1 Upper bound of the multiplicity of a Du Bois singularity

In this section, we show bounds of the multiplicity of a Du Bois singularity. Recall that for an *n*-dimensional variety X and an *n*-dimensional locally complete intersection variety $V \supset X$, the ideal $\mathfrak{d}_{X,V}$ is the ideal such that

$$\operatorname{Im}(\omega_X \to \omega_V|_X) = \mathfrak{d}_{X,V} \otimes \omega_V|_X.$$

The following is a generalization of Theorem 3.1 in [15]. But our proof is just an imitation of the proof of Theorem 3.1 in [15].

Proposition 5.1.1. Let X be an n-dimensional variety with rational singularities. Then for a closed point $x \in X$,

$$\mathbf{e}(\mathfrak{m}_x) \le \binom{\mathbf{emb}(X, x) - \lceil \mathrm{rt}(\mathfrak{m}_x) \rceil}{n - \lceil \mathrm{rt}(\mathfrak{m}_x) \rceil}.$$

Proof. Let \mathfrak{m} be the maximal ideal of $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$ and I be a minimal reduction of \mathfrak{m} . Since $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$ is Cohen-Macaulay, we have $e(\mathfrak{m}) = \ell(\mathcal{O}_{X,x}/I)$. Let $v = \operatorname{emb}(X, x)$. we may assume that $\{x_1, \ldots, x_n, y_1, \ldots, y_{v-n}\}$ is a minimal generators of \mathfrak{m} with $I = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$. Then $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}/I$ is generated as a \mathbb{C} -vector space by 1 and the monomials of y_1, \ldots, y_{v-n} . Here, we can take generators as monomials of degree $\leq n - [\operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{m}_x)]$, since $I \supset \mathfrak{m}^{n+1-[\operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{m}_x)]}$ by Lemma 3.1.20. Therefore we obtain $\ell(\mathcal{O}_{X,x}/I) \leq {\binom{v - \lceil \operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{m}_x) \rceil}{n - \lceil \operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{m}_x) \rceil}}$. Then we obtain

$$\mathbf{e}(\mathfrak{m}) \leq \binom{\operatorname{emb}(X, x) - |\operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{m}_x)|}{n - [\operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{m}_x)]}.$$

Corollary 5.1.2. Let X be an n-dimensional variety with rational singularities. If $[rt(\mathfrak{m}_x)] = n - 1$ for a closed point $x \in X$, then

$$\mathbf{e}(\mathbf{m}_x) + n - 1 = \operatorname{emb}(X, x).$$

Proof. Since X is Cohen-Macaulay, $e(\mathfrak{m}_x) + n - 1 \ge emb(X, x)$. By Proposition 5.1.1, $e(\mathfrak{m}_x) + n - 1 \le emb(X, x)$.

Lemma 5.1.3. Let X be a normal variety, x be a closed point of X and a be an \mathfrak{m}_x -primary ideal sheaf of \mathcal{O}_X . Let V be a reduced locally complete intersection scheme containing X of the same dimension. Let $f: Y \to X$ be a log resolution of $\mathfrak{j}_V|_X \cdot \mathfrak{d}_{V,X} \cdot \mathfrak{a}$ such that $\mathfrak{j}_V|_X \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-J_V)$, $\mathfrak{d}_{X,V} \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y =$ $\mathcal{O}_Y(-D_V)$ and $\mathfrak{a} \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-F)$ for some effective divisors J_V , D_V and F on Y. Let $C = \sum F_i$, where F_i is exceptional prime divisor on Y which center is not x. Then for any integer l,

$$f_*\omega_Y(C-lF): \omega_X = f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_V + D_V + C - lF).$$

Proof. We have $\omega_X = \mathfrak{d}_{X,V}\omega_V|_X$ and $\widehat{K}_{Y/X} = K_Y + J_V - f^*K_V|_X$ by the definition of $\mathfrak{d}_{X,V}$ and Remark 2.2.2. Hence

$$f_*\omega_Y(C-lF): \omega_X = f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_V + f^*K_V|_X + C - lF): \mathfrak{d}_{X,V}\omega_V|_X$$
$$= f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_V + C - lF): \mathfrak{d}_{X,V}.$$

Next we will prove

$$f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_V + C - lF) : \mathfrak{d}_{X,V} = f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_V + D_V + C - lF).$$

$$x \in f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_V + C - lF) : \mathfrak{d}_{X,V}$$

$$\Leftrightarrow x\mathfrak{d}_{X,V} \subset f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_V + C - lF)$$

$$\Leftrightarrow f^*x \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y(-D_V) \subset f\mathcal{O}_Y(\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_V + C - lF)$$

$$\Leftrightarrow f^*x \in \mathcal{O}_Y(\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_V + D_V + C - lF)$$
$$\Leftrightarrow x \in f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_V + D_V + C - lF)$$

Therefore we have

$$f_*\omega_Y(C-lF):\omega_X=f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(\widehat{K}_{Y/X}-J_V+D_V+C-lF).$$

Lemma 5.1.4. Let X be a normal variety with Du Bois singularities, x be a closed point of X and \mathfrak{a} be an \mathfrak{m}_x -primary ideal sheaf of \mathcal{O}_X . Let V be a reduced locally complete intersection scheme containing X of the same dimension. Let $f: Y \to X$ be a log resolution of $\mathfrak{j}_V|_X \cdot \mathfrak{d}_{V,X} \cdot \mathfrak{a}$ such that $\mathfrak{j}_V|_X \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-J_V), \ \mathfrak{d}_{X,V} \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-D_V)$ and $\mathfrak{a} \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-F)$ for some effective divisors J_V , D_V and F on Y. Let $C = \sum F_i$, where F_i is exceptional prime divisor on Y which center is not x. Then

$$\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_V + D_V + C + F \ge 0.$$

Proof. By Lemma 5.1.3, we have

$$f_*\omega_Y(C+F): \omega_X = f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_V + D_V + C + F).$$

By Theorem 2.1.4, we have $f_*\omega(C+F): \omega_X = \mathcal{O}_X$. Therefore

$$\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_V + D_V + C + F \ge 0.$$

Lemma 5.1.5. Let X be an n-dimensional normal Cohen-Macaulay variety with Du Bois singularities and x be a closed point of X. Let \mathfrak{m} be the maximal ideal of $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$ and I be a minimal reduction of \mathfrak{m} . Then $\mathfrak{m}^{n+1} \subset I$

Proof. Let V be a reduced locally complete intersection scheme containing X of the same dimension. Let $f: Y \to X$ be a log resolution of $\mathfrak{j}_V|_X \cdot \mathfrak{d}_{V,X} \cdot \mathfrak{m}_x$ such that $\mathfrak{j}_V|_X \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-J_V)$, $\mathfrak{d}_{X,V} \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-D_V)$ and $\mathfrak{m}_x \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-F)$ for some effective divisors J_V , D_V and F on Y. Let $C = \sum F_i$, where F_i is exceptional prime divisor on Y which center is not x. Since X has Du Bois singularities, we have $\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_V + D_V + C + F \ge 0$ by Lemma

5.1.4. Therefore we have $\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_V + D_V + C - nF \ge -(n+1)F$. Thus we have

$$\mathfrak{m}_x^{n+1} \subset f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_V + D_V + C - nF) = f_*\omega_Y(C - nF) : \omega_X.$$

Let $g: Z \to X$ be the blow-up at x such that $\mathfrak{m}_x \mathcal{O}_Z = \mathcal{O}_Z(-F')$ and $h: Y \to Z$ be the morphism such that $f = g \circ h$. Then we have $h_* \omega_Y(C - nF) \subset \omega_Z(-nF')$. Hence by Theorem 2.3.9 and Lemma 2.3.11, we have

$$(f_*\omega_Y(C-nF):\omega_X)_x \subset (g_*\omega_Z(-nF'):\omega_X)_x$$
$$\subset g_*\omega_Z(-nF')_x:\omega_{X,x} \subset \operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{m}).$$

Therefore

$$\mathfrak{m}^{n+1} \subset (f_*\omega_Y(C-nF):\omega_X)_x \subset \operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{m}) \subset I.$$

In [15], Huneke and Watanabe asked the following

Question 5.1.6. Let X be an n-dimensional variety with Du Bois singularities. Is it true that for a closed point $x \in X$,

$$e(\mathfrak{m}_x) \le \binom{\operatorname{emb}(X,x)}{n}$$
?

The following Theorem gives an answer to the above question in the case where X is normal Cohen-Macaulay.

Theorem 5.1.7. Let X be an n-dimensional normal Cohen-Macaulay variety with Du Bois singularities. Then for a closed point $x \in X$,

$$e(\mathfrak{m}_x) \le \binom{\operatorname{emb}(X,x)}{n}.$$

Proof. Let \mathfrak{m} be the maximal ideal of $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$ and I be a minimal reduction of \mathfrak{m} . Since $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$ is Cohen-Macaulay, we have $e(\mathfrak{m}) = \ell(\mathcal{O}_{X,x}/I)$. Let $v = \operatorname{emb}(X, x)$. we may assume that $\{x_1, \ldots, x_n, y_1, \ldots, y_{v-n}\}$ is a minimal generators of \mathfrak{m} with $I = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$. Then $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}/I$ is generated as a \mathbb{C} -vector space by 1 and the monomials of y_1, \ldots, y_{v-n} . Here, we can take generators as monomials of degree $\leq n$, since $I \supset \mathfrak{m}^{n+1}$ by Lemma 5.1.5. Therefore we obtain $\ell(\mathcal{O}_{X,x}/I) \leq \binom{v}{n}$. Then we obtain

$$e(\mathfrak{m}) \le \binom{\operatorname{emb}(X, x)}{n}.$$

Corollary 5.1.8. Let X be an n-dimensional Cohen-Macaulay variety with log canonical singularities. Then for a closed point $x \in X$,

$$e(\mathfrak{m}_x) \le \binom{\operatorname{emb}(X,x)}{n}.$$

Proof. Since log canonical singularities are Du Bois singularities, the statement follows by Theorem 5.1.7. \Box

Huneke and Watanabe proved the following using Matlis duality in the proof of Theorem 5.1 in [15].

Lemma 5.1.9. ([15]) If (A, \mathfrak{m}) is a Gorenstein Artin local ring with $\mathfrak{m}^s = 0$, then $\ell(\mathfrak{m}^t) \leq \ell(A/\mathfrak{m}^{s-t})$ for each $0 \leq t \leq s$.

If X is a Gorenstein variety, then the upper bound is largely reduced by the lemma. Our proof is just an imitation of the proof of Theorem 5.1 in [15].

Proposition 5.1.10. Let X be an n-dimensional normal Gorenstein variety with Du Bois singularities and let $x \in X$ be a closed point. Let emb(X, x) = v.

(1) If n = 2r + 1, then

$$\mathbf{e}(\mathfrak{m}_x) \le 2\binom{v-r-1}{r}.$$

(2) If n = 2r, then

$$e(\mathfrak{m}_x) \leq \binom{v-r}{r} + \binom{v-r-1}{r-1}.$$

Proof. Let \mathfrak{m} be the maximal ideal of $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$. Let I be a minimal reduction of \mathfrak{m} . Let $A = \mathcal{O}_{X,x}/I$ and $\mathfrak{n} = \mathfrak{m}/I$. Then (A, \mathfrak{n}) is a Gorenstein Artin local ring, as $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$ is Gorenstein and I is generated by a system of parameters. Now, by Lemma 5.1.5, we have $I \supset \mathfrak{m}^{n+1}$, which yields $\mathfrak{n}^{n+1} = 0$. We need to evaluate $\ell(A)$ in order to get bounded of $\mathfrak{e}(\mathfrak{m}_x)$. We may assume that $\{y_1, \ldots, y_n, z_1, \ldots, z_{v-n}\}$ is minimal generators of \mathfrak{m} with $I = (y_1, \ldots, y_n)$. Then A/\mathfrak{n}^{l+1} is generated as \mathbb{C} -vector space by the monomials of z_1, \ldots, z_{v-n} of degree $\leq l$. Therefore $\ell(A/\mathfrak{n}^{l+1}) \leq \binom{v-n+l}{l}$. If n = 2r+1, then by Lemma 5.1.9 we obtain

$$\ell(A) = \ell(A/\mathfrak{n}^{r+1}) + \ell(\mathfrak{n}^{r+1}) \le \ell(A/\mathfrak{n}^{r+1}) + \ell(A/\mathfrak{n}^{r+1})$$
$$\le 2\binom{v-r-1}{r}.$$

If n = 2r, then by Lemma 5.1.9 we obtain

$$\ell(A) = \ell(A/\mathfrak{n}^r) + \ell(\mathfrak{n}^r) \le \ell(A/\mathfrak{n}^r) + \ell(A/\mathfrak{n}^{r+1}) \le \binom{v-r-1}{r-1} + \binom{v-r}{r}.$$

Laufer proved the relation between the multiplicity and embedding dimension of the minimal elliptic singularity in [23].

Corollary 5.1.11. ([23]) Let X be a 2-dimensional normal Gorenstein variety and let $x \in X$ be a closed point. Suppose that X is Du Bois singularity but not regular. Then

$$e(\mathfrak{m}_x) = \operatorname{emb}(X, x) - 1 = 2$$

or

$$\mathbf{e}(\mathbf{\mathfrak{m}}_x) = \mathbf{emb}(X, x) \ge 3.$$

Proof. By Proposition 5.1.10, we have $e(\mathfrak{m}_x) \leq \operatorname{emb}(X, x)$. On the other hand, since X is Cohen-Macaulay, we have $\operatorname{emb}(X, x) \leq e(\mathfrak{m}_x)+1$. Therefore $\operatorname{emb}(X, x)$ is $e(\mathfrak{m}_x)$ or $e(\mathfrak{m}_x) + 1$. Let I be a minimal reduction of maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$, $A = \mathcal{O}_{X,x}/I$ and $\mathfrak{n} = \mathfrak{m}/I$ be the maximal ideal of A. We assume that $e(\mathfrak{m}_x) = 2$. Since $\ell(\mathcal{O}_{X,x}/I) = 2$, $\operatorname{emb}(X, x) = 3$. We assume that $\operatorname{emb}(X, x) = \operatorname{e}(\mathfrak{m}_x) + 1$. Then $I\mathfrak{m} = \mathfrak{m}^2$ (see [34]). Therefore $\operatorname{e}(\mathfrak{m}_x) = \ell(A) = \ell(A/\mathfrak{n}) + \ell(\mathfrak{n}) \leq \ell(A/\mathfrak{n}) + \ell(A/\mathfrak{n}) = 2$ by Lemma 5.1.9. By the above discussion, if $\operatorname{e}(\mathfrak{m}_x) = \operatorname{emb}(X, x)$, then $\operatorname{e}(\mathfrak{m}_x) \geq 3$. \Box

Definition 5.1.12. A two-dimensional normal singularity (X, x) is called a simple elliptic singularity if the exceptional curve E of the minimal resolution $f: Y \to X$ is an irreducible nonsingular elliptic curve.

Definition 5.1.13. If the exceptional divisor $E = \sum_{i=1}^{r} E_i$ of the minimal resolution $f: Y \to X$ of two-dimensional normal singularity (X, x) satisfies the following, then we call (X, x) a cusp singularity.

The total exceptional divisor E is an irreducible rational curve with an ordinary node or the equalities $E_i \cong \mathbb{P}^1$ ($\forall i = 1, ..., r$) hold and E is of normal crossings with the dual graph as the following cyclic form (ignoring the weight):



We know that a 2-dimensional normal singularity (X, x) is Gorenstein Du Bois singularity if and only if (X, x) is a rational double point, a simple elliptic singularity or a cusp singularity (see [19]).

Example 5.1.14. Suppose X is a simple elliptic singularity or a cusp singularity. Since simple elliptic singularity and cusp singularity are Gorenstein Du Bois singularities, we have $e(\mathfrak{m}_x) = \operatorname{emb}(X, x) - 1 = 2$ or $e(\mathfrak{m}_x) = \operatorname{emb}(X, x) \geq 3$.

5.2 Upper bound of the multiplicity of \mathfrak{m}_x primary ideal

In this section, we show bounds of the multiplicity by functions of birational invariants for singularities.

Definition 5.2.1. Let X be a variety and Z be a proper reduced subscheme of X defined by an ideal sheaf \mathfrak{q} . The *i*-th symbolic power \mathfrak{q}^t is then defined on any affine open set U by $\mathfrak{q}^{(t)}(U) = \{f \in \mathcal{O}_X(U) | f \in \mathfrak{m}_{\eta}^t$, for all generic point η of Z}, where \mathfrak{m}_{η} means the maximal ideal in the local ring $\mathcal{O}_{X,\eta}$.

Definition 5.2.2. Let X be a variety and \mathfrak{a} be a non-zero ideal of \mathcal{O}_X . Let $\nu : W \to X$ be the normalization of the blowing-up of X along \mathfrak{a} so that $\mathfrak{a} \cdot \mathcal{O}_W = \mathcal{O}_W(-E)$ where E is an effective Cartier divisor on W. We can write $E = \sum_{i=1}^t r_i E_i$ as a sum of distinct prime divisor E_i 's with some positive integer coefficients r_i . Write $Z_i = \nu(E_i)$ to be the image E_i on X with the reduced scheme structure. Then Z_i 's are called the distinguished subvarieties of \mathfrak{a} with the coefficient r_i .

Niu showed the relation between the Mather-Jacobian ideals and symbolic powers in [30]. Our proof of the following lemma is just an imitation of the proof of Claim 3.1.1 in [30].

Lemma 5.2.3. Let X be a variety with rational singularities and \mathfrak{a} be a nonzero ideal sheaf of \mathcal{O}_X . Let Z_i , $i = 1, \ldots, t$, be the distinguished subvarieties of \mathfrak{a} with the coefficient r_i defined by the ideal \mathfrak{q}_{Z_i} . For $l \ge \lceil \operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{a}) \rceil - 1$, we have the inclusion

$$\mathfrak{q}_{Z_1}^{(r_1(l+1-\lceil \mathrm{rt}(\mathfrak{a})\rceil))} \cap \dots \cap \mathfrak{q}_{Z_t}^{(r_t(l+1-\lceil \mathrm{rt}(\mathfrak{a})\rceil))} \subset \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{a}^l).$$

Proof. Since the inclusion is local, we can assume that X is affine. Let \mathfrak{j}_X be the Jacobian ideal of X and \mathfrak{d}_X be the lci-defect ideal of X. Let $f: Y \to X$ be a log resolution of $\mathfrak{j}_X \cdot \mathfrak{d}_X \cdot \mathfrak{a}$ such that $\mathfrak{j}_X \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-J_{Y/X})$, $\mathfrak{d}_X \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-D_{Y/X})$ and $\mathfrak{a} \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-F)$ for some effective divisors $J_{Y/X}, D_{Y/X}$ and F on Y. Then by Theorem 3.1.3 we have

$$\mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{a}^{l}) = f_{*}\mathcal{O}_{Y}(\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_{Y/X} + D_{Y/X} - lF).$$

Therefore, it suffices to show that for any element $h \in \mathfrak{q}_{Z_1}^{(r_1(l+1-\lceil \operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{a}) \rceil))} \cap \cdots \cap \mathfrak{q}_{Z_t}^{(r_t(l+1-\lceil \operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{a}) \rceil))}$,

$$\operatorname{div} f^*h \ge -\widehat{K}_{Y/X} + J_{Y/X} - D_{Y/X} + lF,$$

where div f^*h means the effective divisor defined by f^*h on Y. To see this let $\nu : W \to X$ be the normalization of the blowing-up of X along \mathfrak{a} such that $\mathfrak{a} \cdot \mathcal{O}_W = \mathcal{O}_W(-E)$ where E is an effective Cartier divisor on W. Write E as a sum of prime divisors $E = \sum_{i=1}^t r_i E_i$. Note that $Z_i = \nu(E_i)$ and f factors through ν via a morphism $g : Y \to W$ such that $F = g^*E$. For any element $h \in \mathfrak{q}_{Z_1}^{(r_1(l+1-\lceil \operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{a})\rceil))} \cap \cdots \cap \mathfrak{q}_{Z_t}^{(r_t(l+1-\lceil \operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{a})\rceil))}$, we have $\operatorname{ord}_{E_i}\nu^*h \ge$ $r_i(l+1-\lceil \operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{a})\rceil)$. Therefore we have div $\nu^*h \ge (l+1-\lceil \operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{a})\rceil)E$. Thus we have div $f^*h = \operatorname{div} g^*(\nu^*h) \ge g^*((l+1-\lceil \operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{a})\rceil)E) = (l+1-\lceil \operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{a})\rceil)F$. Since $\lceil \operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{a})\rceil - 1 < \operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{a})$, $\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_{Y/X} + D_{Y/X} - (\lceil \operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{a})\rceil - 1)F \ge 0$. Thus we have div $f^*h \ge (l+1-\lceil \operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{a})\rceil)F \ge -\widehat{K}_{Y/X} + J_{Y/X} - D_{Y/X} + lF$. Therefore the lemma is proved.

Lemma 5.2.4. Let X be a variety with rational singularities and \mathfrak{a} be a nonzero ideal sheaf of \mathcal{O}_X . Let Z_i , $i = 1, \ldots, t$, be the distinguished subvarieties of \mathfrak{a} with the coefficient r_i defined by the ideal \mathfrak{q}_{Z_i} . Let $r = \max_i \{r_i\}$. For $l \ge [\operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{a})] - 1$, we have the inclusion

$$(\sqrt{\mathfrak{a}})^{r(l+1-\lceil \operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{a})\rceil)} \subset \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{a}^l).$$

Proof. By Lemma 5.2.3, we have

$$\mathfrak{q}_{Z_1}^{(r_1(l+1-\lceil \mathrm{rt}(\mathfrak{a})\rceil))} \cap \cdots \cap \mathfrak{q}_{Z_t}^{(r_t(l+1-\lceil \mathrm{rt}(\mathfrak{a})\rceil))} \subset \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{a}^l).$$

Since $r \geq r_i$, $(\sqrt{\mathfrak{a}})^{r(l+1-\lceil \operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{a}) \rceil)} \subset \mathfrak{q}_{Z_1}^{(r_1(l+1-\lceil \operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{a}) \rceil))} \cap \cdots \cap \mathfrak{q}_{Z_t}^{(r_t(l+1-\lceil \operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{a}) \rceil))}$. Therefore we have

$$(\sqrt{\mathfrak{a}})^{r(l+1-\lceil \operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{a}) \rceil)} \subset \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{a}^l).$$

Theorem 5.2.5. Let X be an n-dimensional variety with rational singularities, x be a closed point of X and \mathfrak{a} be an \mathfrak{m}_x -primary ideal sheaf of \mathcal{O}_X . Let Z_i , $i = 1, \ldots, t$, be the distinguished subvarieties of \mathfrak{a} with the coefficient r_i defined by the ideal \mathfrak{q}_{Z_i} . Let $r = \max_i \{r_i\}$. Then

$$\mathbf{e}(\mathfrak{a}) \le \binom{\mathbf{emb}(X, x) + r(n + 1 - \lceil \mathrm{rt}(\mathfrak{a}) \rceil) - 1}{\mathbf{emb}(X, x)}.$$

Proof. By Lemma 5.2.4, we have

$$\mathfrak{m}_x^{r(n+1-\lceil \mathrm{rt}(\mathfrak{a})\rceil)} \subset \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{a}^n)$$

Let \mathfrak{m} be the maximal ideal of $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$ and I be a minimal reduction of $\mathfrak{a}\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$. Let $g: Z \to X$ be the blow-up of \mathfrak{a} such that $\mathfrak{a}\mathcal{O}_Z = \mathcal{O}_Z(-F')$ and $h: Y \to Z$ be the morphism such that $f = g \circ h$. Then we have $h_*\omega_Y(-nF) \subset \omega_Z(-nF')$. Hence by Theorem 2.3.9 and Lemma 2.3.11, we have

$$\mathfrak{m}^{r(n+1-\lceil \operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{a})\rceil)} \subset \mathcal{J}^{\omega}(X,\mathfrak{a}^n)_x = (f_*\omega_Y(-nF):\omega_X)_x$$
$$\subset (g_*\omega_Z(-nF'):\omega_X)_x \subset g_*\omega_Z(-nF')_x:\omega_{X,x} \subset \operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{a}\mathcal{O}_{X,x}) \subset I.$$

Since $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$ is Cohen-Macaulay, we have $e(\mathfrak{a}) = \ell(\mathcal{O}_{X,x}/I)$.

Let $v = \operatorname{emb}(X, x)$. we may assume that $\{y_1, \ldots, y_v\}$ is a minimal generators of \mathfrak{m} . Then $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}/I$ is generated as a \mathbb{C} -vector space by 1 and the monomials of y_1, \ldots, y_v . Here, we can take generators as monomials of degree $\leq d := r(n+1-\lceil \operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{a}) \rceil) - 1$, since $I \supset \mathfrak{m}^{r(n+1-\lceil \operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{m}_x) \rceil)}$. Therefore we obtain $\ell(\mathcal{O}_{X,x}/I) \leq \binom{v+d}{d}$. Then we obtain $e(\mathfrak{a}) \leq \binom{\operatorname{emb}(X,x) + r(n+1-\lceil \operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{a}) \rceil) - 1}{\operatorname{emb}(X,x)}.$

Lemma 5.2.6. Let X be a normal Cohen-Macaulay variety with Du Bois singularities, x be a closed point of X and \mathfrak{a} be an \mathfrak{m}_x -primary ideal sheaf of \mathcal{O}_X . Let V be a reduced locally complete intersection scheme containing X of the same dimension. Let $f: Y \to X$ be a log resolution of $\mathfrak{j}_V|_X \cdot \mathfrak{d}_{V,X} \cdot \mathfrak{a}$ such that $\mathfrak{j}_V|_X \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-J_V)$, $\mathfrak{d}_{X,V} \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-D_V)$ and $\mathfrak{a} \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-F)$ for some effective divisors J_V , D_V and F on Y. Let $C = \sum F_i$, where F_i is exceptional prime divisor on Y which center is not x. Let Z_i , $i = 1, \ldots, t$, be the distinguished subvarieties of \mathfrak{a} with the coefficient r_i defined by the ideal \mathfrak{q}_{Z_i} . For $l \geq 0$, we have the inclusion

$$\mathfrak{q}_{Z_1}^{(r_1(l+1))} \cap \cdots \cap \mathfrak{q}_{Z_t}^{(r_t(l+1))} \subset f_*\omega_Y(C-lF) : \omega_X.$$

Proof. Since the inclusion is local, we can assume that X is affine. By Lemma 5.1.3, we have

$$f_*\omega_Y(C-lF): \omega_X = f_*\mathcal{O}_Y(\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_V + D_V + C - lF).$$

Therefore it suffices to show that for any element $h \in \mathfrak{q}_{Z_1}^{(r_1(l+1))} \cap \cdots \cap \mathfrak{q}_{Z_t}^{(r_t(l+1))}$,

$$\operatorname{div} f^*h \ge -\widehat{K}_{Y/X} + J_V - D_V - C + lF,$$

where div f^*h means the effective divisor defined by f^*h on Y. To see this let $\nu: W \to X$ be the normalization of the blowing-up of X along \mathfrak{a} such that $\mathfrak{a} \cdot \mathcal{O}_W = \mathcal{O}_W(-E)$ where E is an effective Cartier divisor on W. Write E as a sum of prime divisors $E = \sum_{i=1}^t r_i E_i$. Note that $Z_i = \nu(E_i)$ and f factors through ν via a morphism $g: Y \to W$ such that $F = g^*E$. For any element $h \in \mathfrak{q}_{Z_1}^{(r_1(l+1))} \cap \cdots \cap \mathfrak{q}_{Z_t}^{(r_t(l+1))}$, we have $\operatorname{ord}_{E_i}\nu^*h \ge r_i(l+1)$. Therefore we have div $\nu^*h \ge (l+1)E$. Thus we have div $f^*h = \operatorname{div} g^*(\nu^*h) \ge g^*((l+1)E) = (l+1)F$. Since X has Du Bois singularities, $\widehat{K}_{Y/X} - J_V + D_V + C + F \ge 0$ by Lemma 5.1.4. Thus we have div $f^*h \ge (l+1)F \ge -\widehat{K}_{Y/X} + J_V - D_V - C + lF$. Therefore the lemma is proved.

Theorem 5.2.7. Let X be an n-dimensional normal Cohen-Macaulay variety with Du Bois singularities, x be a closed point of X and \mathfrak{a} be an \mathfrak{m}_x -primary ideal sheaf of \mathcal{O}_X . Let Z_i , $i = 1, \ldots, t$, be the distinguished subvarieties of \mathfrak{a} with the coefficient r_i defined by the ideal \mathfrak{q}_{Z_i} . Let $r = \max_i \{r_i\}$. Then

$$e(\mathfrak{a}) \le \begin{pmatrix} \operatorname{emb}(X, x) + r(n+1) - 1\\ \operatorname{emb}(X, x) \end{pmatrix}.$$

Proof. Let V be a reduced locally complete intersection scheme containing X of the same dimension. Let $f: Y \to X$ be a log resolution of $\mathfrak{j}_V|_X \cdot \mathfrak{d}_{V,X} \cdot \mathfrak{a}$ such that $\mathfrak{j}_V|_X \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-J_V)$, $\mathfrak{d}_{X,V} \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-D_V)$ and $\mathfrak{a} \cdot \mathcal{O}_Y = \mathcal{O}_Y(-F)$ for some effective divisors J_V , D_V and F on Y. Let $C = \sum F_i$, where F_i is exceptional prime divisor on Y which center is not x. By Lemma 5.2.6, we have

$$\mathfrak{m}_x^{r(n+1)} \subset \mathfrak{q}_{Z_1}^{(r_1(l+1))} \cap \cdots \cap \mathfrak{q}_{Z_t}^{(r_t(l+1))} \subset f_*\omega_Y(C-lF) : \omega_X.$$

Let \mathfrak{m} be the maximal ideal of $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$ and I be a minimal reduction of $\mathfrak{a}\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$.

Let $g : Z \to X$ be the blow-up of \mathfrak{a} such that $\mathfrak{a}\mathcal{O}_Z = \mathcal{O}_Z(-F')$ and $h: Y \to Z$ be the morphism such that $f = g \circ h$. Then we have $h_*\omega_Y(C - nF) \subset \omega_Z(-nF')$. Hence by Theorem 2.3.9 and Lemma 2.3.11, we have

$$\mathfrak{m}^{r(n+1)} \subset (f_*\omega_Y(C-nF):\omega_X)_x \subset (g_*\omega_Z(-nF'):\omega_X)_x$$
$$\subset g_*\omega_Z(-nF')_x:\omega_{X,x} \subset \operatorname{core}(\mathfrak{a}\mathcal{O}_{X,x}) \subset I.$$

Since $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$ is Cohen-Macaulay, we have $e(\mathfrak{a}) = \ell(\mathcal{O}_{X,x}/I)$.

Let $v = \operatorname{emb}(X, x)$. we may assume that $\{y_1, \ldots, y_v\}$ is a minimal generators of \mathfrak{m} . Then $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}/I$ is generated as a \mathbb{C} -vector space by 1 and the monomials of y_1, \ldots, y_v . Here, we can take generators as monomials of degree $\leq d := r(n+1) - 1$, since $I \supset \mathfrak{m}^{r(n+1)}$. Therefore we obtain $\ell(\mathcal{O}_{X,x}/I) \leq \binom{v+d}{d}$. Then we obtain

$$e(\mathfrak{a}) \le \binom{\operatorname{emb}(X, x) + r(n+1) - 1}{\operatorname{emb}(X, x)}.$$

Corollary 5.2.8. Let X be an n-dimensional Cohen-Macaulay variety with log canonical singularities, x be a closed point of X and \mathfrak{a} be an \mathfrak{m}_x -primary ideal sheaf of \mathcal{O}_X . Let Z_i , $i = 1, \ldots, t$, be the distinguished subvarieties of \mathfrak{a} with the coefficient r_i defined by the ideal \mathfrak{q}_{Z_i} . Let $r = \max_i \{r_i\}$. Then

$$\mathbf{e}(\mathfrak{a}) \le \begin{pmatrix} \operatorname{emb}(X, x) + r(n+1) - 1\\ \operatorname{emb}(X, x) \end{pmatrix}$$

Proof. Since log canonical singularities are Du Bois singularities, the statement follows by Theorem 5.2.7. \Box

Definition 5.2.9. Let (X, \mathfrak{a}) be a pair consisting of a variety X and a nonzero ideal $\mathfrak{a} \subset \mathcal{O}_X$. The Mather log- canonical threshold of (X, \mathfrak{a}) is defined as follows:

$$\widehat{\operatorname{lct}}(\mathfrak{a}) = \sup\{c | \widehat{k}_E - \operatorname{cord}_E(\mathfrak{a}) + 1 \ge 0, E \text{ divisor over } X\}.$$

De Fernex and Mustață showed the relationship between the Mather log canonical threshold and the multiplicity of an \mathfrak{m}_x -primary ideal.

Theorem 5.2.10. ([6]) Let X be an n-dimensional Cohen-Macaulay variety, x be a closed point of X and \mathfrak{a} be an \mathfrak{m}_x -primary ideal sheaf of \mathcal{O}_X .

$$\left(\frac{n}{\widehat{\operatorname{lct}}(\mathfrak{a})}\right)^n \le \operatorname{e}(\mathfrak{a}).$$

Corollary 5.2.11. Let X be an n-dimensional normal Cohen-Macaulay variety, x be a closed point of X and \mathfrak{a} be an \mathfrak{m}_x -primary ideal sheaf of \mathcal{O}_X . Let Z_i , $i = 1, \ldots, t$, be the distinguished subvarieties of \mathfrak{a} with the coefficient r_i defined by the ideal \mathfrak{q}_{Z_i} . Let $r = \max_i \{r_i\}$. (1) If X has rational singularities, then

$$\left(\frac{n}{\widehat{\operatorname{lct}}(\mathfrak{a})}\right)^n \leq \left(\frac{\operatorname{emb}(X,x) + r(n+1 - \lceil \operatorname{rt}(\mathfrak{a}) \rceil) - 1}{\operatorname{emb}(X,x)}\right).$$

(2) If X has Du Bois singularities, then

$$\left(\frac{n}{\widehat{\operatorname{lct}}(\mathfrak{a})}\right)^n \le \left(\frac{\operatorname{emb}(X,x) + r(n+1) - 1}{\operatorname{emb}(X,x)}\right).$$

Proof. The statements follow by Theorem 5.2.5, Theorem 5.2.7 and Theorem 5.2.10. $\hfill \Box$

Bibliography

- M. Blickle, Multiplier ideals and modules on toric varieties. Math. Z. 248 (2004), 113-121.
- [2] W. Bruns and J. Herzog, Cohen-Macaulay rings, Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics 39, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, revised edition 1998.
- [3] T. de Fernex and R. Docampo, Jacobian discrepancies and rational singularities J. Eur. Math. Soc. 16 (2014), 165-199.
- [4] J.-P. Demailly, L. Ein and R. Lazarsfeld, A subadditivity property of multiplier ideals, Michigan. Math. J. 48 (2000), 137-156.
- [5] T. de Fernex and C. Hacon, Singularities on normal varieties, Comp. Math. 145, (2009) 393-414.
- [6] T. de Fernex and M. Mustaţă, The volume of a set of arcs on a variety, arXiv:1506.06424.
- [7] L. Ein and S. Ishii, Singularities with respect to Mather-Jacobian discrepancies, preprint, arXiv:1310.6882 to appear in MSRI Publications.
- [8] L. Ein, S. Ishii and M. Mustață, Multiplier ideals via Mather discrepancy, to appear Adv. Stud. Pure Math.
- [9] L. Ein and M. Mustață, Jet schemes and singularities, in Algebraic Geometry-Seattle 2005, Part 2, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math. 80, Part 2, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, (2009), 505-546.

- [10] Charles Favre and Mattias Jonsson, Valuations and multiplier ideals, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 18 (2005), pp. 655-684
- [11] J. Giraud, Improvement of Grauert-Riemenschneider's Theorem for a normal surface, Ann. Inst. Fourier, Grenoble 32 (1982), 13-23.
- [12] R. Hartshorne, Residues and duality, Springer Lecture Notes, vol. 20, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York, 1966.
- [13] C. Huneke and I. Swanson, Cores of ideals in 2-dimensional regular local rings, Michi- gan Math. J. 42 (1995), no. 1, 193208.
- [14] C. Huneke and N. V. Trung, On the core of ideals, Compositio Math. 141 (2005), 1-18.
- [15] C. Huneke, and K-i Watanabe, Upper bound of multiplicity of F-pure rings. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 143 (2015), no. 12, 5021-5026.
- [16] E. Hyry, O. Villamayor, A Briançon-Skoda Theorem for Isolated Singularities, J. Algebra, 204 (1998), 656-665.
- [17] E. Hyry and K. E. Smith, On a non-vanishing conjecture of Kawamata and on the core of an ideal, Amer. J. Math. 125, no. 6, 1349-1410 (2003)
- [18] S. Ishii, Mather discrepancy and the arc spaces, Ann. Inst. Fourier, 63 (1), (2013) 89-111.
- [19] S. Ishii. Introduction to singularities. Springer, 2014.
- [20] J. Kollár, S. Kovács, Log canonical singularities are Du Bois. J. Amer. Math. Soc. 23 (2010), no. 3, 791-813.
- [21] J. Kollár and S. Mori, Birational Geometry of Algebraic Varieties. With the collaboration of C. H. Clemens and A. Corti. Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics, 134. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1998.
- [22] S. J. Kovács, K. Schwede and K. E. Smith, The canonical sheaf of Du Bois singularities, Adv. Math. 224 (2010), no. 4, p. 1618-1640.

- [23] H.Laufer, On minimally elliptic singularities, Amer. J. Math. 99, (1975), 1257-1295.
- [24] R. Lazarsfeld, Positivity in Algebraic Geometry, II, Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete, 3. Folge, Vol. 49, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2004.
- [25] R. Lazarsfeld and Kyungyong Lee, Local syzygies of multiplier ideals, Inventiones Math. 167 (2007) 409-418.
- [26] R. Lazarsfeld, K. Lee, and K. E. Smith: Syzygies of multiplier ideals on singular varieties, Michigan Math. J. 57 (2008), 511-521
- [27] J. Lipman, Rational singularities with applications to algebraic surfaces and unique factorization, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. 36 (1969), 195-279.
- [28] J. Lipman and B. Teissier, Pseudo-rational local rings and a theorem of Briançon-Skoda, Michigan Math. J. 28 (1981), 97-116.
- [29] Joseph Lipman and Kei-ichi Watanabe, Integrally closed ideals in twodimensional regular local rings are multiplier ideals, Math. Res. Lett. 10 (2003), no. 4, 423-434.
- [30] W. Niu. Geometric nullstellensatz and symbolic powers on arbitrary varieties. Math. Ann 359.3-4 (2014): 745-758.
- [31] T. Okuma, K.-i. Watanabe, and K.-i. Yoshida, Good ideals and p_{g} ideals in two-dimensional normal singularities, arXiv:1407.1590, submitted.
- [32] T. Okuma, K.-i. Watanabe, and K.-i. Yoshida, A characterization of two-dimensional rational singularities via core of ideals, arXiv:1511.01553.
- [33] D. Rees and Judith D. Sally, General elements and joint reductions, Michigan Math. J. 35 (1988), no. 2, 241-254.

- [34] J. Sally, Cohen-Macaulay local rings of maximal embedding dimension, J. Algebra 56 (1979) 168-183.
- [35] K. Schwede A simple characterization of Du Bois singularities, Compos. Math. 143 (2007), no. 4, 813-828.
- [36] J. H. M. Steenbrink, Mixed Hodge structures associated with isolated singularities, in Singularities, Part 2, Arcata, CA, 1981, Proceedings of Symposia in Pure Mathematics, vol. 40 (American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1983), 513-536
- [37] S. Takagi, K-i. Watanabe, When does the subadditivity theorem for multiplier ideals hold? Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 356(10):3951-3961(2004).
- [38] K. Tucker, Integrally closed ideals on log terminal surfaces are multiplier ideals Math. Res. Lett. 16 (2009), 903-908